
Date Published:9 March 2020     

Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 10 March 2020 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

ORGANISATION ITEMS

1  APOLOGIES Laura Powick

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8)

To agree the minutes of the meeting held on 28 January 2020.

Laura Powick

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Laura Powick

4  WORK PLAN (Pages 9 - 12) Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

DIRECTORS' REPORTS

5  DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT (Pages 13 - 18) Margaret 
Willcox OBE

6  DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT (Pages 19 - 28) Sarah Scott

7  CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT (Pages 29 - 40) Wayne 
Bowcock

8  PERFORMANCE REPORT - QUARTER 3 2019/20 (Pages 41 - 52) Wayne 
Bowcock, 
Sarah Scott, 
Margaret 
Willcox OBE



    

SCRUTINY ITEMS

9  LONELINESS AND ISOLATION (Pages 53 - 88)

Members expressed a wish to understand more about the work being 
undertaken to tackle loneliness and social isolation within the County.   

Emma Savage

10  CARE HOME STRATEGY AND PROVISION (Pages 89 - 92)

The Committee to consider a brief report on the Care Home Strategy and 
care home provision. 

Jenny Cooper

Membership –  Cllr Phil Awford, Cllr Iain Dobie (Vice-Chair), Cllr Andrew Gravells, Cllr Terry Hale, 
Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chairman), Cllr Shaun Parsons, Cllr Brian Robinson and 
Cllr Steve Robinson 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Acting Monitoring 
Officer, (Rob Ayliffe Tel:01452 328506/e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to 
the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Laura Powick, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324205/e-mail: laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk

 

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny 
Committee held on Tuesday 28 January 2020 commencing at 10.00 am at the 
Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT

Cllr Phil Awford
Cllr Iain Dobie (Vice-
Chairman)
Cllr Andrew Gravells
Cllr Terry Hale

Cllr Jeremy Hilton
Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chairman)
Cllr Shaun Parsons
Cllr Steve Robinson

Substitutes:

In Attendance: 

Apologies:

Margaret Willcox, Director of Adult Social Care
Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health
Wayne Bowcock, Chief Fire Officer
Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning
Cllr Tim Harman, Cabinet Member for Public Health and 
Communities
Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking 
and Libraries 
Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery

11. APOLOGIES 

There were no apologies at the meeting. 

12. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 November 2019 were agreed and signed by 
the Chair. 

13. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made.

14. HMI FIRE INSPECTION - UPDATE REPORT 

14.1 Wayne Bowcock, Chief Fire Officer, presented a report on the HMICFRS fire 
inspection report and on progress in the areas identified for improvement. The 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Committee was reminded that the full inspection of Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service (GFRS) took place in June 2019 and the full report was published 
on 17 December 2019. Members noted that since the publication of the report, 
HMICFRS had published the State of Fire and Rescue: The Annual Assessment of 
Fire and Rescue Services in England in 2019, which had made several 
recommendations similar to those highlighted within the GFRS inspection report. 

14.2 The inspection report for GFRS had identified several areas that were 
recommended for improvement, in addition to the identification of two causes for 
concern. The causes for concern related to how GFRS kept the public safe through 
the regulation of fire safety and how the service promotes its values and culture. 
Following a re-inspection in November 2019, a letter from Wendy Williams, Her 
Majesty’s Inspector of Fire and Rescue Services, stated that HMICFRS was 
encouraged by the progress GFRS was making. 

14.3 The Committee was informed that GFRS had created a formal action plan to 
address the recommendations. In particular, GFRS had aligned with the GCC core 
values, and GCC core value workshops had been held with all stations and teams 
to gain support and understanding of the new values. Additionally, in order to 
address the concerns relating to how GFRS kept the public safe through the 
regulation of fire safety, the risk-based inspection programme had been reviewed, 
and an additional 3 inspectors had been recruited into the Protection Team. 
Members understood that it took up to 18 months to fully train the inspectors. 
Members were also informed that implementation of a new structure was underway 
following a structural review, and that a closer working relationship between GFRS 
and GCC was being developed. It was requested that details on the new structure 
be shared with the Committee.

14.4 Members were reminded that whilst improvements had already been made, this 
was the beginning of a journey of progress. The Committee noted that a re-
inspection on progress with the identified causes of concern would likely take place 
in summer 2020. A full re-inspection would likely take place in summer 2021.

14.5 Members discussed the report in detail, including the impact of budget cuts on the 
performance of GFRS, and the governance of the Service. 

14.6 In response to a question regarding the results of the GFRS inspection report, the 
Chief Fire Officer reinforced that it would take time to embed improvements, but 
highlighted the need to embed them before the full re-inspection in 2021. 

14.7 One member queried the high number of temporary promotions within the Service, 
the low rates of individual performance plan (IPP) completions, and the process for 
identifying staff with leadership potential. In response it was explained that the 
restructure had reduced the number of temporary positions, and a new policy had 
been introduced to limit the length of temporary positions. The percentage of IPP 
completions would be confirmed following the meeting, however it was 
acknowledged that the process was onerous, and that it was currently being 
reviewed. It was also explained that talent management was a particular area of 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

focus for GFRS and that the progression and promotion policy was currently under 
review. 

14.8 It was explained, following a question, that GFRS was working with the 
Communications Team at GCC on improving its communication with the public, and 
that they had an annual communications and campaign plan.  

14.9 One member expressed their concern regarding cross-county working 
arrangements. The Chief Fire Officer advised that agreements on working with 
other counties and national resilience arrangements had been reviewed, and that 
an exercise plan was being developed. 

14.10 Members also asked questions relating to the backlog of Safe and Well visits, 
grievance procedures, and the role of local fire stations in tackling loneliness. It was 
requested that the Chief Fire Officer report back on how this role could be 
developed further. 

14.11 Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries, 
expressed his disappointment on reading the inspection report, but highlighted that 
the restructure, in addition to an increase in funding, was the beginning of the 
journey to improve the performance of GFRS. 

14.12 The Chief Fire Officer wished to put on record that despite the concerns identified 
following the inspection, GFRS staff had continued to serve Gloucestershire 
communities well. Several members also thanked staff for ensuring confidence in 
the Service amongst the public. 

15. GLOUCESTERSHIRE FIRE AND RESCUE CABINET PANEL 

15.1 Cllr Dave Norman presented the GFRS Review Cabinet Panel report. The Cabinet 
Panel was established following a recommendation from the Fire and Rescue 
Service Scrutiny Task Group to ensure oversight of the change programme within 
the Fire and Rescue Service. 

15.2 Cllr Norman informed the Committee that during the Panel’s recent visit to the Fire 
Headquarters in January 2020, GFRS staff were optimistic about the progress 
being made under the new structure. 

15.3 Attention was drawn to the key observations of the Panel in the report. Cllr Norman 
thanked the panel members, officers and GFRS staff for their help in the production 
of the report. The Committee was also made aware of a member event that was 
being held at Gloucester South Community Fire and Rescue Station and SkillZone 
on Thursday 27 February 2020 at 11am. 

15.4 Following a discussion about the timeline for the development of the 2021-2024 
Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP), it was requested that the draft plan be 
brought to the Committee in the autumn. 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

15.5 One member commented on the Council’s failure to identify the issues within the 
GFRS earlier, and stressed the importance of members being more involved in 
scrutinising governance arrangements.

15.6 The Committee thanked Cllr Norman for his report. 

16. DIRECTOR OF ADULT SOCIAL CARE REPORT 

16.1  Margaret Willcox, Director of Adult Social Care, presented the Director of Adult 
Social Care Report. 

16.2 Members noted that there had been complications with the negotiations for an 
Enhanced Independence Officer. An update would be provided to the Committee 
when a decision had been made.

16.3 The Committee was informed of a recent visit to the Carers Hub by the Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning and the Cabinet Member for Adult 
Social Care Delivery. The visit had been positive, and they had been particularly 
impressed by the responses of the triage team and the professionalism of staff.

16.4 In response to a question on the impact of Brexit on care staff from the European 
Union, it was explained that the situation was being monitored; however the impact 
in the County would not be fully understood until decisions on arrangements had 
been made.

16.5 Following a further query relating to the impact in Gloucestershire of the recent 
receivership of Westminster Homecare, Margaret Willcox determined that she was 
confident there would not be a problem with spaces in residential care homes. It 
was noted that the difficulty was in ensuring that individuals were placed in the right 
place to receive the best care. It was also noted that since last year, cabinet 
strategy had been increasingly focused on nursing and dementia care at home, 
rather than residential care. 

17. DIRECTOR PUBLIC HEALTH REPORT 

17.1 Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health presented her report. Attention was drawn to 
the Population Health Management Development Programme, which aimed to 
support integrated care systems to progress population health management further 
through analytical input and organisational development support activities. 

17.2 The success of the staff influenza vaccination campaign was highlighted to the 
Committee, with the number of staff receiving the vaccine exceeding the aim to 
vaccinate at least 1800 employees.

17.3 Attention was drawn to the suicide prevention work carried out following the 
additional investment of £50,000 agreed at full Council in February 2019. Several 
members praised the work being carried out on suicide prevention within the 
County. 

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

17.4 An update on the ACEs strategy was provided to members. It was highlighted that 
the strategy and its successes were receiving national and international recognition. 

17.5 Members also noted the information included in the report on rural car ownership. 

18. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

18.1 Wayne Bowcock introduced the Chief Fire Officer Report to the Committee. In 
particular, the support provided by GFRS during the flooding in Sheffield was 
highlighted, as well as the response to local flooding incidents. One member 
thanked the crews for their response to the local flooding incidents, and expressed 
concern that these incidents would get worse in the future.

18.2 Members were informed that GFRS was working to understand what the financial 
impact would be following the outcome of the Fire Brigades Union (FBU) pensions 
legal dispute, in which the FBU was successful. 

18.3 It was also noted that there had been a reduction in the number of whole-time 
firefighters volunteering to carry out cardiac response following regional discussions 
with the FBU. The FBU was requesting additional pay for staff responding to 
cardiac calls. In response to a question, the Chief Fire Officer explained that he 
verbally encouraged his staff to respond to cardiac calls, and that support was 
provided for staff who had encountered emotionally challenging situations. One 
member reminded the Committee of the importance of making the public aware of 
how to use community defibrillators in a cardiac situation. 

18.4 Attention was drawn to changes to lease vehicle tax; the reduction in the backlog of 
Safe and Well visits; the termination of Operation Yellowhammer, which had eased 
pressure on the Civil Protection team; and emergency mortuary arrangements.  The 
decisions taken by the Chief Fire Officer for this period were also noted by the 
Committee.

18.5 There was a discussion about the budgetary pressures facing Trading Standards. 
One member queried whether funding for Trading Standards should be increased. 

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.05 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee – Action Sheet
28 January 2020

Topic Action Responsibility Progress

118. HMI Fire 
Inspection – 
Update Report 

To circulate details of the GFRS 
restructure with the Committee.

Wayne 
Bowcock

Emailed to members on 
07/02/20

2 HMI Fire 
Inspection – 
Update Report

To confirm the percentage of IPP 
completions for Committee 
members.

Wayne 
Bowcock

From the period of 
27.02.19 – 27.02.2020 
36% of staff are reported 
as having completed an 
IPP with their line 
manager.

3 HMI Fire 
Inspection – 
Update Report

To report to the Committee on the 
role of local fire stations in tackling 
loneliness. 

Wayne 
Bowcock

An update to be provided 
during the Loneliness and 
Isolation item at the 10 
March 2020 meeting. 

4 Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue 
Cabinet Panel

To present the draft IRMP 2021-
2024 to the Committee.

Wayne 
Bowcock

Included on the work plan 
for consideration in 
autumn 2020.

5 Director of Adult 
Social Care 
Report

To update the Committee on the 
decision regarding an Enhanced 
Independence Officer. 

Margaret 
Willcox

Update to be included in 
the Director of Adult Social 
Care Report as soon as 
possible. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee - Work Plan 2020

10 March 2020 26 May 2020 7 July 2020

 Loneliness and Isolation - Emma 
Savage

 Care Home Strategy and Provision -  
Jenny Cooper

 Quarter 3 2019/20 Performance Report

Standard items - at top of the agenda

 Director Adult Social Care Report
 Chief Fire Officer Report
 Director Public Health report 

 Adult Single Programme - Mark 
Branton

 Homelessness – winter pressures on 
provision and is there a lack of 
places? - Sarah Scott 

 NHS Discharges  from a GCC 
perspective - Margaret Willcox

Standard items 

 Director Adult Social Care Report
 Chief Fire Officer Report
 Director Public Health report 

 Transitions Strategy – Wendy Williams 
 Quarter 4 2019/20 Performance Report

Standard items 

 Director Adult Social Care Report
 Chief Fire Officer Report
 Director Public Health report 

8 September 2020 10 November 2020

 Road Safety Cabinet Panel Report – 
Cllr Dave Norman 

 Quarter 1 2020/21 Performance Report

Standard items 

 Director Adult Social Care Report
 Chief Fire Officer Report
 Director Public Health report 

 Public Health Annual Report – 
Domestic Abuse

 Quarter 2 2020/21 Performance Report

Standard items 

 Director Adult Social Care Report
 Chief Fire Officer Report
 Director Public Health report 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 4



Future Items 

1 Draft IRMP 2021-2024 (GFRS) To be considered 
in Autumn 2020

6 Performance Workshop – to help 
understanding of performance 
reports and shape them moving 
forward

2 Draft Transitions Strategy Scheduled for July 
2020. 

7 Merger of NHS 2gether and care 
services – impact on adult social 
care

3 Trading Standards - Revisit 8 Visit to Gloucestershire Coroner’s 
Court  

To be arranged 

4 Mental Health Workshop May 2020 9 Joint meeting on Health and 
Wellbeing Board 

Annually -  to be 
arranged 

5 Digital Innovation Fund and Thriving 
Communities Grant (Di Billingham)

7 July 2020 (tbc) 10 Coronavirus – impact, 
effectiveness of response, lessons 
learned. 

Winter 2020/21

6 Joint work with CFOSC on 
Transitions Strategy

Winter 2020/21

P
age 10



P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Adult Social Care and Communities
Scrutiny Committee – 
Report from Commissioning Director: Adults and DASS

_________________________________________________

Safeguarding

The need for an online Adult Social Care safeguarding referral form had been 
identified as part of Adult Single programme improvements in 2018. Analysis over 
many years indicated the phone and email contact from partners sharing concerns 
regarding Adults at risk of abuse or neglect were keen for an online solution. The 
contact options to date have been via the Adult Helpdesk, Adult social care generic 
email, the Safeguarding Team professional telephone helpline and the safeguarding 
team enquiry email. Analysis of the contact data indicated that the data quality 
shared was often insufficient to make a determination resulting in outbound calls 
being made by the Adult helpdesk staff and the safeguarding team staff.  This often 
resulted in delay and piecemeal information as the referrer could be working a shift 
pattern making it difficult to accurately capture the concerns. 

Staff from the Adult Helpdesk, Safeguarding team and planning and performance 
have been working together to create, test and go live with the Adult Social Care 
Safeguarding Adults Referral Form. The safeguarding team staff worked from the 
Adult Helpdesk in July and August of 2019 to review contacts and training needs for 
the Customer Service Officer’s (CSO’s) and management which has been delivered 
over the last few months. Clear escalation lines have been agreed between the Adult 
Helpdesk management team and the Safeguarding team. 

On Monday 3rd February 2020 the Safeguarding team were able to shut down the 
professional telephone helpline and re-direct enquiries to the website 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/adults-and-older-
people/report-suspected-abuse-safeguarding-adults-at-risk/ and the Adult Helpdesk. 
Although it is very early days, the form has been welcomed by our partner 
organisations, who have access to a useful 24/7 access channel and reporting tool. 
The quality of referral data is improved, supporting colleagues in the Safeguarding 
team to make decisions in a more timely way – whether that outcome is the 
requirement to raise a Safe1 or identifying a training need in a home. The high 
number of ad hoc interruptions to the Safeguarding team has significantly reduced. 
Initial data suggests that the increase in contact to the Adult Helpdesk is principally 
via the online form and not via the helpdesk phone lines. The ongoing learning from 
this change in contact will be monitored and reporting via in phase and the Adult 
Social Care Senior Management Team (ASMT).

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



GIS

GIS (Healthcare) is a County Council service, operating as the in-house provider of 
community medical equipment, aids and adaptations that enable service users in 
Gloucestershire to live at home, or return home from hospital or intermediary 
accommodation. They are responsible for the delivery, collection, refurbishment and 
servicing of the community equipment.  GIS (Healthcare) continue to provide a 
service that meets all the service specifications and hold a number of accreditation 
awards.  They have been recently reassessed for the Quality Award ISO 90001:2015 
and I am pleased to say they have been successful in retaining this award.

Employment Projects – Update

We are still seeing good outcomes across all of our employment programmes with 
momentum growing both locally and nationally.  

Our GCC delivered service Forwards continues to work closely with both Adults and 
Children’s services to provide intensive support to people primarily but not 
exclusively with Learning Disabilities and Autism.  The service also supports the 
transition of young people leaving education by establishing clear employment 
pathways preventing them from accessing social care services.   We have seen an 
increase of the number of people wanting help to stay in work and our reputation is 
growing in this area so we are starting to monitor the impact this has on our 
business.

The Gloucestershire GEM Project which helps vulnerable people access 
employment, education and training has been extended by 2 years with further 
funding from the European Social Fund and National Lottery Community Fund.  It 
delivers outcomes for people furthest from the labour market.  Over the last 3 years 
365 people have found work through GEM which means the project helps someone 
into work every 3 days.  Over 1200 people have engaged with the project of which 
55% have declared a disability or work limiting health condition.

Both Forwards and GEM have gained local and national recognition particularly 
round the strategic influence the projects have on the wider community, the delivery 
model and also the outcomes we have achieved.  The interest in our work centres 
mainly round our networks, relationships with community providers and the 
collaborative way we work to ensure the best outcomes for people in 
Gloucestershire.  In December NHS England (NHSE) and the Department for Work 
and Pensions (DWP) Work and Health Unit conducted a deep dive into our 
employment projects.  We are one of their case studies sharing best practice and we 
will be part of their film which will include people who have benefitted from our 
programmes, service leads and delivery partners.

Page 14



Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) are interested in the GEM Project as a 
potential model for future programmes and we maintain our strong relationship with 
national policy leads.  They have also commented positively about our “inclusive” 
approach to employment as we acknowledge a person’s wider support needs rather 
than concentrating on their disability.

We have new projects in the pipeline including a targeted employer resource and 
initiatives to open up opportunities support for young people who are not in 
education and employment or training (NEET) of which we know a significant 
number will have some form of health condition.

Outcomes – April – December 2019
Number of people with a disability into a paid job outcome 110 (target 56) 
55% of interns went into work within 1 month of leaving their internship (target 50%)
85% of people who have found work with Forwards have remained in work for more 
than 52 weeks (target 75%)
The current % of people with a learning disability who are in work in Gloucestershire 
is 25% (Sept 2019) against a target of 15%.

Enhanced Independence Update

Community Based Pathway

The specification for the community based “Home First” service has been agreed 
and presently Gloucestershire Health and Care Trust are putting together an 
implementation plan; to demonstrate how they will mobilise the service, manage the 
staffing cohort, link with adult social care and supply therapy.
There is continued work aligning the discharge system to ensure that people leaving 
hospital follow the right pathway, with home as the default.  Commissioners are 
working with health partners to ensure the development of the Transfer of Care 
Bureau, which will carry out multi-agency triage into the services; fundamentally to 
maintain access criteria and suggest appropriate support.
As soon as the implementation plan has been agreed, consultation with the staffing 
team can commence and recruitment for additional members of staff can proceed.

Bed Based Pathway

The specification has been agreed with The Orders of St John Care Trust and 
negotiations are in train regarding the locations of the sites across the county and 
the number of beds on each site. Commissioners are meeting in March to begin this 
work. There is still a hope of having one of the sites up and running by end of April, 
depending upon any adjustments needed to the property.

Page 15



It is currently expected there will be 72 reablement beds, 12 discharge to assess 
beds and 10 non-weight-bearing beds across 4-6 sites.

Adult Mental Health 

Approved Mental Health Professionals (AMHP)

Over the past 3 years we have been working with NHS colleagues to recommission 
our model of AMHP delivery.  This project was divided into 3 phases:

 Phase 1:  Extended Hours AMHP Hub provided by GHC working in 
partnership with GCC Emergency Duty Team.

 Phase 2:  Commission GHC to provide 24/7 AMHP Hub service supported by 
a range of community AMHPs working in GCC/GHC.

 Phase 3:  Delivery of 24/7 Hub and spoke model with agreed recruitment, 
retention and training strategy.

Phases 1 and 2 are complete and we are now working with GHC on the final phase.  
The transition from the old model to the new has been very successful.  ASMT 
recently approved a new procedure relating to the approval of AMHPs that provides 
greater assurance regarding AMHP competency (key statutory duty for GCC under 
the Mental Health Act (193/2007).

Mental Health Social Work Service
Remodelling of the existing integrated service model for adults with mental illness 
has been an aspiration of the commissioning team but until the AMHP service re-
design was complete it was difficult to progress.  As stated above the AMHP project 
has progressed sufficiently to enable us to commence this work with colleagues at 
GHC.  In addition we have been piloting a new co-produced integrated assessment 
process within GHC (entitled the Integrated Accelerator Pilot – IAP).  Learning from 
this pilot will be embedded into the new Mental Health Social Work model provided 
by GHC.

Mental Health Supported Accommodation
Since taking over responsibility for this area on 1st April we have conducted a 
comprehensive review of the services provided. The review’s recommendations 
were shared with the Joint Commissioning Partnership Executive.  We are currently 
working with colleagues from GHC to implement those recommendations.

Employment Support for Adults with Mental Illness
Following an independent review of the Better to Work service provided by GHC we 
have been successful in receiving transformation funding from NHSE to develop the 
existing service commissioned by GCC.  We will use the funding to increase the 
range of employment support available to adults with Serious Mental Illness as well 

Page 16



as exploring opportunities to strengthen the relationship with other employment 
initiatives. 

Mental Capacity Act 2005/Liberty Protection Safeguards
In July 2018, the government published a Mental Capacity (Amendment) Bill, which 
passed into law in May 2019. It replaces the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS) with a scheme known as the Liberty Protection Safeguards. Simon 
Thomason is currently steering the developments of the Mental Capacity Act and 
Liberty Protection Safeguards. We are waiting for the Code of Practice to be 
published as it has been delayed. 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Report from the Director of Public Health

10th March 2020

__________________________________________________________________

Novel Coronavirus Update

On 31 December 2019, the World Health Organization (WHO) was informed by the 
People’s Republic of China that several people had been treated for pneumonia in 
Wuhan City, Hubei Province.  Following laboratory testing, Chinese authorities 
identified that the possible cause was a novel (new) strain of coronavirus (COVID-
19), which had not previously been identified in humans.  

The best evidence available currently suggests that it can take up to 14 days for 
symptoms of COVID-19 infection to appear, and it appears to spread through 
droplets e.g. in coughs and sneezes.  Common symptoms include cough, fever, 
shortness of breath, breathing difficulties and other respiratory symptoms.  Most 
people (around 98%) have a mild, cold-like illness and fully recover, but in some 
severe cases, symptoms can include pneumonia or kidney failure, and in extreme 
cases this can lead to death.   General prevention messages remain the best public 
health advice we can give i.e. regular hand washing, covering mouths and noses 
when coughing and sneezing, and avoiding close contact with people who have the 
virus.

As of 27 February 2020 at 2pm, there were 82,294 confirmed cases globally and 
2,804 deaths have been officially reported by the World Health Organisation (96% of 
the cases and 98% of the deaths have been in China); there has been a total of 
7,690 people tested in the UK, of which 7,675 were confirmed negative and 15 
positive.  Nationally, the Department of Health, NHS England and Public Health 
England have been working together to ensure that we detect any cases in the UK 
and limit the spread of infection, and that our systems are prepared should 
community spread increase.  There have, so far, been no positive cases in the South 
West of England.

The situation is rapidly evolving and being monitored closely.  People returning from 
specific areas are asked to contact NHS 111 to inform them of their recent travel, 
especially if they have symptoms of a fever, cough or shortness of breath.  

Locally, the Director of Public Health has a responsibility to ensure robust plans and 
processes are in place to manage the emerging situation.  The Public Health team 
has been supporting partners across Gloucestershire to ensure we are well 
prepared.  Actions include:

 Ensuring that our plans for a pandemic event are up to date and ready to be 
activated, including an exercise on 26 February 2020 to simulate current 
arrangements;

Page 19

Agenda Item 6



 Supporting the national agencies with communications by reemphasising 
messages locally;

 Ensuring general hygiene messages and up to date information has been 
communicated to all GCC staff, social care settings and schools, with partners 
doing the same for their organisations and stakeholders;

 Liaising with Public Health England and NHS England to ensure they are 
supported in their response and assured of our local plans; and

 Providing advice and support to the public who contact GCC.

In addition, Health Partners have:

 Set up “pods” at the hospital sites in Gloucester and Cheltenham where people 
can be tested for the virus safely;

 Set up a Home Testing Team for people who are unable to get to the hospital;
 Implemented pathways for treating and supporting patients with COVID-19 

infection;

The following government webpage will be updated daily at 2pm.  It contains the 
latest information on the outbreak.  https://www.gov.uk/guidance/wuhan-novel-
coronavirus-information-for-the-public .  The best place to get advice on what to do if 
you are concerned about COVID-19 or have travelled recently and are unsure of 
what action to take, is the NHS Website https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-
covid-19/ 

Public Health Nursing Service

In 2018/19 the Public Health Consultant for children and young people at GCC 
undertook a review of the health input into children’s safeguarding due to the 
increased demand observed by our Public Health Nursing Service (PHNS).  This 
concluded that the current PHNS service was not commissioned to provide the level 
of resource required to manage the increase in safeguarding demand seen 
nationally and locally.  In response to this GCC committed to providing an extra 
£200,000 to the service recurrently, starting in April 2019, to be used to recruit 
additional school nurses and administrative support, as this is where the pressure 
was greatest.

Since being awarded the money Gloucestershire Health and Care NHSFT (GHC) 
have been working to recruit to these posts.  This has proved challenging due to 
national workforce shortages, however GHC have been very creative in their 
recruitment; they have increased the qualified School Nurse establishment by a net 
2.5 Whole Time Equivalent over the last year and they have also recruited three 
qualified nurses who they are funding through their School Nurse qualification and 
will be eligible to apply for the more senior position in the autumn.  Any surplus 
funding is being used for qualified nursing establishment (NHS pay band 5), non-
recurrent training, equipment and software as agreed with commissioners.  Following 
the award of the funding and efforts by GHC to build resilience in the team, staff 
moral has increased and turnover has reduced.  

The service is required to report on four additional performance metrics related to 
safeguarding outputs to evidence the impact the investment has had.

Page 20

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-information-for-the-public
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-information-for-the-public
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/
https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/


The original review of health input into children’s safeguarding also identified a 
second conclusion; that improvements were required to the pathway for all health 
agencies (community care, hospital service, mental health services, primary care 
etc.) to ensure that notifications of meetings and decisions are timely and 
appropriate.  A group of professionals representing each health agency and GCC 
children’s services is meeting regularly to develop this work.

Health Equity in England – The Marmot Review 10 years on

In 2008 Professor Sir Michael Marmot was asked by the then Secretary of State for 
Health to chair an independent review to propose the most effective evidence-based 
strategies for reducing health inequalities in England.  In 2010 he published the 
findings of the review - ‘Fair Society Healthy Lives’.  Shortly before these papers 
were published a review of health equity was published, the Marmot Review 10 
years on.  It demonstrated that since 2010 life expectancy in England has stalled; 
this has not happened since at least 1900. The reasons are complex and the Public 
Health team will be studying the report in detail and using its findings to review the 
approach to tackling health inequalities in Gloucestershire.  The primary vehicles for 
this are the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the Prevention and Health 
Inequalities Framework that supports the delivery of the NHS Long Term Plan.  A 
more detailed briefing will be brought to a future scrutiny committee but in the mean 
time please see below the link to the report:

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/marmot-review-10-years-on

Children and young people community weight management pilot

Reducing childhood obesity is both a Council and Health and Wellbeing Board 
priority.  Strategies to reduce childhood obesity must include system-wide action to 
prevent children from gaining excess weight in the first place alongside weight 
management support for children and families already affected by obesity, which 
enables them to make sustain lifestyle behaviour changes to reduce their risk of 
escalating obesity in adulthood and improve their life chances.  We are mandated to 
weigh and measure and identify obesity among schoolchildren. However, in 
Gloucestershire there is currently no commissioned support for children and young 
people affected by obesity.  

In 2018 Gloucestershire CCG and GCC committed non-recurrent funding for 
children’s community weight management.   In the absence of an ‘off-the-shelf’ 
intervention proven engage effectively with families and meet their needs we are 
undertaking a ‘test and learn’ pilot to identify, through co-production, what works in 
helping local families achieve and sustain a healthier weight.   This will run from 
February 2019 to March 2021 in Gloucester City and the Forest of Dean where 
obesity-related inequalities are greatest. 

The pilot provider is the Royal Society of Public Health award-winning BeeZee 
Bodies, who are experienced in supporting children, young people and families to 
embed healthier habits.  

Page 21

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/marmot-review-10-years-on


The key to successful behavior change is for a family to be resilient and thriving. 
During the ‘discovery phase’ (February – October 2019) we engaged in depth with 
local families (60 participants).  74% participants were from IMD Quintile 1 and 2, 
reflecting more vulnerable and complex families.  Among the challenges families 
wanted support with in order to be able to engage in a healthier lifestyle were:  
parenting skills including communication, relationships and managing behaviours; 
financial issues including budgeting, universal credit, employment and healthy food 
costs; and food access including food desserts, convenience, transport and food 
skills*. (Further insight work with teenagers is underway to inform the development of 
a teens weight management offer). 
 
At the same time BeeZee Bodies has mapped local assets and built coalitions with 
communities and wider family services to identify opportunities for involving for 
communities in delivering the wider support families need alongside the specific 
weight management support e.g.  local ‘early help’ support around parenting.  A 
trauma informed approach, using the ACEs toolkit, will be applied throughout.  

Programme development and delivery will run from October 2019 to March 2021.  
Ten families who were involved in the discovery phase have committed to co-
creating and reviewing the programme format and content throughout the four 
proposed cycles of delivery.  Phase One (Jan – April 2020) will take place in Matson 
and Cinderford. Phase Two (April – June 2020) will run in Podsmead, Kingsholm and 
Coleford.    

Teeside University has been commissioned to undertake an independent evaluation 
of the programme, which will be used to inform the business case for future provision 
during 2020-21. 

*A full insight report will be disseminated to stakeholders in April 2020.  

What we want from you?   

 Please raise further awareness of offer in Forest of Dean and Gloucester City. 
https://beezeebodies.com/where-in-gloucestershire-do-you-live/

 Your agreement to come back and share insight report and inform you of 
progress in May 2020

 Below are some more specific news links from BeeZee bodies about activity so 
far.

https://beezeebodies.com/blog/helloooo-gloucestershire/

https://www.instagram.com/p/B8yg9EWqEX0/?igshid=1f3xxy22qp0fl

https://www.instagram.com/p/B8eZSvuDHwC/?utm_source=ig_web_copy_link

Page 22

https://beezeebodies.com/where-in-gloucestershire-do-you-live/
https://beezeebodies.com/blog/helloooo-gloucestershire/
https://www.instagram.com/p/B8yg9EWqEX0/?igshid=1f3xxy22qp0fl
https://www.instagram.com/p/B8eZSvuDHwC/?utm_source=ig_web_copy_link


Self-Harm Pathway Review 

In May 2017, the Mental Health and Wellbeing Partnership Board agreed a project to 
review self-harm pathways in the county as part of a wider ‘deep dive’ into self-harm 
requested by the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Self-harm is used by some people as a coping mechanism for emotional distress; 
and commonly involves self-poisoning with medication or self-injury by cutting. Self-
harm can occur at any age, but is most common in younger age groups.1 The rate of 
hospital admissions for self-harm in Gloucestershire among children and young 
people (aged 10-24 years) has fallen slightly in recent years and is currently in line 
with the national rate (2017/18). However, prior to this the rate of self-harm 
admissions in the county in this age group had been significantly higher then 
England for a number of years2.

National research indicates that a quarter of 15 year olds have self-harmed at some 
point; in the majority of cases only once, but 4% reported self-harming every day3. In 
the 2018 Gloucestershire Online Pupil Survey, 81% of secondary and Year12/FE 
Students in the county had never self-harmed, while 5.2% were self-harming weekly 
or daily4. 

Structure of the review

The review looked at all stages of the self-harm pathway from prevention and early 
intervention through to recovery and ‘staying well’; and also considered access to 
care and support. It included in-depth interviews with stakeholders (mainly 
professionals whose work brings them into contact with people who self-harm) and 
an online survey for people with lived experience and their carers.

A stakeholder workshop was held to reflect on the findings, agree priorities, and 
develop a system-wide action plan to be delivered in conjunction with partner 
organisations across the health, education, and voluntary and community sectors. 
The plan was agreed by the Mental Health and Wellbeing Partnership Board, and 
presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Update on actions

The review identified a number of priorities reflected in the action plan:

- Ensuring a consistent approach to prevention and early intervention.
- Improving access to care, and quality of care.
- Helping people to recover and stay well; and 
- Developing knowledge, understanding and skills within the Gloucestershire 

workforce and wider community.

A range of initiatives have been taken forward as a result of the action plan. These  
supplement the existing services and support already available in the county through 

1 McManus et al (2019) Prevalence of non-suicidal self-harm and service contact in England, 2000–14: repeated cross-sectional surveys of 
the general population, Lancet Psychiatry 2019; 6: 573–81
2 Rate of hospital admissions as a result of self-harm in those aged 10-24 years (per 100,000) Public Health England Fingertips.
3 CRIPACC (2018) Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children England National Report. 
4 GCC (2019) Gloucestershire Online Pupil Survey 2018 survey results. 

Page 23



services such as the Self-Harm Helpline (commissioned by GCC), the Children and 
Young People’s Mental Health Service, TIC+ (Teens in Crisis), the work of 
Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning in schools and colleges, wider 
community based support, and work taking place under the Crisis Care Concordat. 
Examples of the outputs from the review include:

- Introduction of an advice line for parents concerned about their child’s 
emotional wellbeing (run by TIC+), which has received positive feedback and 
high uptake; and an online counselling option for young people. 

- Improved information resources on self-harm for young people, their 
parents/Carers, and health professionals.

- Development of a policy and pathway for people who present with self-harm 
in Minor Injury and Illness Units, and steps to improve the support for people 
presenting in Emergency Departments.

- Commissioning of a new self-harm training course targeted at professionals 
working with people who may be self-harming, including front line health 
professionals, those working in the supported housing sector, Police, 
Ambulance Services, and Probation. The training has also been rolled out to 
staff in schools across the county via GHLL.

- Development of ‘Harmlessglos’, an online planning and support tool for 
professionals working with children and young people who are self-harming. 
This is being promoted via Know Your Patch meetings, Youth Network 
meetings, and will be promoted to Social Care staff via roadshows.  A training 
video is also being developed. 

Self-harm is a risk factor for suicide and the pathway review has helped inform 
Gloucestershire’s proposals submitted to NHS England under its Suicide Prevention 
Transformation Programme. If successful, the new funding will be used to invest in 
initiatives aimed at building capacity and enhancing community based support for 
mental wellbeing in the county.

Next steps

Delivery of the main action plan is now complete. Additional system-wide 
recommendations arising from the review will be fed back to the Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Partnership Board to agree how the wider partnership can support these 
going forward.

Progress in improving the self-harm pathway will be monitored through the county’s 
All Age Mental Health Strategy, alongside other programmes of work to improve 
mental wellbeing and support those in crisis.

Levels of self-harm in the county will continue to be monitored through national data 
on hospital admissions for self-harm, the online pupil survey, and contacts to the 
self-harm helpline. 

Page 24



Adult Social Care & Community Scrutiny Committee
10 March 2020

Covid-19 Briefing

National situation and plan
As of 9 March  at 2pm there have nearly 25,000 people tested in the UK for Covid-19, of which 319 
were confirmed positive.  Four of those individuals who tested positive have died.  It is expected that 
more cases will be detected in the coming days, with some early evidence of spread of the virus 
being seen nationally. 

The government published its coronavirus action plan on 3 March 2020 and details of this can be 
found here.  It details three specific stages of action (contain, delay and mitigate) underpinned by 
research throughout.  The strategy to contain the spread of the virus has been to test individuals 
who have returned from areas of potential exposure, and identifying individual confirmed cases.  
From this, it is then possible to identify all people who have had close contact with a confirmed case 
in the UK and ask these people to take appropriate action, such as self-isolation.  This has been 
somewhat successful in that we had only relatively few cases until recent weeks, but the 
government is now considering how we begin to move to the “delay” phase of the plan.  This means 
that there is a recognition that spread of the virus will now occur, but the aim will be to slow this 
down so that our services can deal with the increased demand it will generate.  

Delay strategies will include consideration of measures such as social distancing (e.g. greater home 
working, school closures, reducing large scale gatherings) and will be based on the best available 
evidence, balanced against the impact on society.   We expect there to be more information 
released this week on such decisions. 

Local confirmed cases
As of 4pm 9 March 2020, there have been three confirmed cases of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) in 
Gloucestershire.  Specific details of individuals are not being given out to respect patient 
confidentiality, however, some general information is known and can be shared.  

The first two cases were linked; the individuals became unwell following a holiday to Northern Italy.  
All those who have had close contact with either of the two cases have been identified, contacted 
and provided with all necessary advice.   One of the cases worked at a primary school in Tetbury and 
self-isolated when they developed symptoms on return. The school where they worked was closed 
on Monday 2nd and Tuesday 3rd March whilst it was deep cleaned and reopened on Wednesday 4th 
March 2020. One case remained at home. One was admitted to hospital in Liverpool. 4 symptomatic 
contacts of these cases were identified and found to be negative for Coronavirus. Other 
asymptomatic contacts self-isolated as appropriate.

There has been understandable anxiety within the Tetbury community and, as part of addressing 
this, as the school returns to business as usual; a local drop in session in the school hall was 
arranged.  The Local County Councillor, Director of Education and Director of Public Health attended 
to support the school, answer questions from staff and parents. 

The third case was confirmed on 7 March 2020; this person lives in the Cheltenham area and had 
travelled out of the area to a conference and it thought they contracted COVID-19 there.

We are aware that there are likely to be further cases in the coming days and the numbers will be 
announced on the www.gov.uk website.  The Director of Public Health will continue to lead the local 
communications. 

Page 25

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/869827/Coronavirus_action_plan_-_a_guide_to_what_you_can_expect_across_the_UK.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/


Local novel coronavirus (COVID-19) preparedness and action
Locally, we have tried and tested plans in place which mean that we are prepared to deal with a 
whole range of issues.  This is an evolving situation and all agencies are working together to make 
sure everything possible is being done to minimise the risk of novel coronavirus (COVID-19) 
spreading in the county.  

Gloucestershire County Council actions include:

 Ensuring that our plans for a pandemic event are up to date and ready to be activated.  This 
has included attending an exercise on 26 February 2020 to test current arrangements.

 Liaising with Public Health England and NHS England to ensure they are supported in their 
response and assured of our local plans as well as providing advice and support to the public 
who contact GCC.

 Ensuring general hygiene messages and up to date information has been communicated to 
all GCC staff, social care settings and schools.  We have also ensured partners are doing the 
same for their organisations and stakeholders

 Ensuring business continuity plans are in place
 Supporting the establishment and operational activity of a 7 day a week multiagency 

Incident Command Centre (ICC).  
 The Director of Public Health is now chairing weekly Strategic Coordination Group (SCG) 

meetings for all Local Resilience Forum stakeholders
 Established strategic and tactical working groups to oversee GCC’s response to the situation.

In addition, Health Partners have:

 Established a drive through testing facility in Brockworth where people can be tested safely 
and quickly without leaving their vehicle and coming into contact with the general public.  

 Set up “pods” at the hospital sites in Gloucester and Cheltenham where people who are 
unwell and need clinician assessment can be tested for the virus safely. 

 Set up a Home Testing Team for people who are unable to get to the hospital or drive 
through testing site. 

 Implemented pathways for treating and supporting patients with novel coronavirus (COVID-
19) infection under a number of scenarios.  These have been stress tested through 
simulation exercises and were activated for the three confirmed local cases.  

General Information and Prevention Advice

Novel coronavirus (COVID-19) presents with flu-like symptoms including a fever, a cough, or 
difficulty breathing. The current evidence is that most cases appear to be mild. National advice 
remains that the best action we can all take is to ensure we continue to have good personal and 
hand hygiene, which includes:

 Giving your hands a good wash with soap and water (but hand sanitisers can be a good 
substitute). 

 Maintaining personal hygiene when coughing or sneezing is also important – use a tissue 
rather your hands and then throw it away.  

Anyone who is concerned about their health symptoms is advised to follow the advice about what to 
do on the Government’s website at https://www.gov.uk/guidance/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-
information-for-the-public     People are asked NOT to turn up at their GP surgery or other health 
services (e.g. hospital), but rather to call NHS 111 .

Page 26

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-information-for-the-public
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/wuhan-novel-coronavirus-information-for-the-public


If people have trips planned, they should follow the Foreign and Commonwealth Office travel 
advice.   

Sarah Scott
Director of Public Health 
9 March 2020

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Fire and Rescue

1. HMICFRS Inspection Update
Following the full Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) HMICFRS report 
publication on 17th December 2019, HMICFRS have now published the national State of Fire 
& Rescue 2019 along with the Public Perceptions of Fire and Rescue Services 2019 report.  

The reports can be accessed at: https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-
content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2019-double-page.pdf
The Service will consider the report findings alongside the outcome of the GFRS HMICFRS 
inspection Report to develop an appropriate improvement plan.   

GFRS has now been informed that the next HMICFRS full inspection will take place in June 
2021.  In the meantime, an HMICFRS inspection team of 6 will carry out a re-visit in 
September 2020.  The re-visit will look at protection (business fire safety) and review how 
well GFRS is progressing against its action plan.

A new Service Liaison Lead (SLL), John Robertson has been appointed.  He will meet with 
the GFRS Service Liaison Officer monthly.  This will support the progression against 
improvement actions plans and the development of the Service’s Integrated Risk 
Management Plan (IRMP).

Following a two year secondment to HMICFRS, Jan Morris has joined GFRS on a 6 month 
secondment.  Her role will specifically look at required improvement areas based on 
HMICFRS report findings and recent audit reports.  

GFRS continues to work to its cultural development plan.  The Core Values workshops have 
almost been completed and a new visualisation will be displayed at all stations once the final 
workshop has been completed in February.  

2. IRMP 

Title Chief Fire Officer Report – Adult and Social Care and 
Communities Scrutiny Committee

Chief Fire Officer 
suite of Services

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards, Civil 
Protection and Coroners Services. 

Date 10th March 2020

Purpose of Report To provide a strategic update on issues and key areas of service 
provision, opportunities and challenges

Page 29

Agenda Item 7

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2019-double-page.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/wp-content/uploads/state-of-fire-and-rescue-2019-double-page.pdf


2

The Fire and Rescue National Framework for England requires every Fire and Rescue 
Service to write an IRMP that covers the following:

 To identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue-related risks their 
areas face, make provision for prevention and protection activities and respond to 
incidents appropriately

 Demonstrate how prevention, protection and response activities will best be used to 
prevent fires and other incidents and mitigate the impact of identified risks on its 
communities, through authorities working either individually or collectively, in a way 
that makes best used of available resources

 To work in partnership with their communities and a wide range of partners locally 
and nationally to deliver their services

 To be accountable to communities for the service they provide

The Service has begun the development of its next Integrated Risk Management Plan 
(IRMP), which is due for publication in April 2021. The IRMP will set out the vision for the 
Service over the next three years and will be supported by yearly action plans, which detail 
how the objectives set out in this plan will be achieved.  

HMICFRS identified areas for improvement in the current IRMP and work has begun to 
ensure these areas are being addressed. Working with the corporate MAIDEN and data 
analysis team based at Shire Hall a full assessment of risk in the county will be undertaken. 
The success of the IRMP will depend on this cross service collaboration.

3. Structural Review Update  
Implementation of the new structure is almost complete following the ‘go-live’ date of the 6th 
January 2020. Existing staff have transitioned into new roles and recruitment for the new 
green book posts is underway. A copy of the new structure can been seen at appendix A.

4. Response and Resilience Update (including CPT)
Daily Tactical Coordinating Group Meetings took place during the recent poor weather 
conditions. GFRS and SARA both supported residents who were happy to remain in their 
properties which were inaccessible by car by providing necessary provisions. Some 
evacuations took place from Sandhurst Lane, Longford and Tewkesbury areas. GFRS also 
accompanied the GCC Traveller Liaison Officer by boat to Willows Site to arrange to do a 
welfare check of residents, take provisions to the camp and evacuate an individual who 
required routine medical treatment.  GFRS also undertook site assessments to enable 
pumping resources to be put in place to reduce the risk of flooding at Castlemeads electricity 
sub-station and the River Twyver culvert if required. The Service rescued a number of 
motorists from cars that had been stranded driving through flood water, and GFRS Control 
dealt with numerous flood related calls over the period. 

CPT arranged for Gloucestershire Emergency Support Team volunteers to be on standby to 
support Gloucester City Council with the Rest Centre that was activated at GL1 if necessary. 
 Colleagues from GCC Adult Social care ran reports to check for any known vulnerable 
individuals in flood risk areas. CPT liaised with District Councils to provide advice and 
coordinate support via GFRS and GCC Highways with any specific requests. GCC Highways 
put road closures and traffic management systems in place, and regularly monitored 
conditions, keeping the road closure information on GCC website up to date. GCC Flood 
Risk Management Team assisted the City Council and Police with door knocking in flood risk 
areas. 

Page 30



3

GCC Communications issued messages regarding the safety risk of ‘Flood Tourists’ going to 
view flooded areas, which other agencies have been reinforcing. Several live media 
interviews were given by GCC staff over the period.  

5. Fire Estate
Discussions have taken place to ensure the GCC estate considers the most effective and 
efficient use of fire stations across the county.  There are 21 stations that provide 
opportunities to deliver a range of community focussed services.  Some of these statins are 
in rural communities where there use as a community asset could be beneficial either as a 
place from which the county council can deliver services, staff can work remotely or an asset 
which community groups could make use of.  This will be developed in to the next integrated 
risk management plan in consultation with the One Public Estate strategy and the 
community safety strategy of GFRS which will be closely linked with the adult social care 
and public health strategies and objectives.

Trading Standards

6. Brexit
The UK exited the EU on the 31st January 2020 (Brexit). At the moment the UK is still in a 
transition phase while negotiations take place between the Government and the EU. The UK 
has been a member of the EU for 40 years. In that time various EU directives, Regulations 
and shared networks have had huge impact on Trading Standards and the trading activity of 
businesses trading with the EU.

The Government have taken the lead on Brexit information and the GCC website has links to 
the relevant pages. Moving forward it is anticipated that local business may have a greater 
need for advice provided by the Trading Standards Service especially if they are importing 
into, or exporting out of the EU. This may lead to more officers having to deal with these 
issues and other areas of the Service may have to take a lower priority.  
There may also be a need to increase training to officers so that they have the necessary 
expertise to advise and enforce any new legislation that may be enacted. It is difficult at this 
moment to forecast what may happen as negotiations are still ongoing.

Civil Protection Team

7. Berkeley Nuclear Power Station (Magnox)
In May 2019 revised Radiation (Emergency Preparedness and Public Information) 
Regulations 2019 (REPPIR) came into force and placed a number of new statutory duties on 
top tier local authorities in terms of emergency planning for licenced nuclear sites.  For 
Berkeley Site, in 2017 the Office for Nuclear Regulation confirmed that the offsite emergency 
plan could be withdrawn as a radiation emergency was no longer reasonably foreseeable at 
the site.  

Whilst there is no change to the risk at Berkeley Site, the revised REPPIR regulations and 
methodology mean that GCC is now required to undertake some outline emergency 
planning including submitting an offsite emergency plan to the Office of Nuclear Regulation 
by June 2020. The Civil Protection Team (CPT) has been liaising with Magnox (who operate 
Berkeley Site) and other partners including Stroud District Council to meet the REPPIR 
statutory duties by the specified timescales. CPT will be leading on the development of a 

Page 31



4

suitable offsite emergency plan over the next few months and consulting multi-agency 
partners as appropriate. 

8. Extraordinary BCM Assurance Board 
An extraordinary BCM Assurance Board took place on 13th February 2020 to assure GCC 
BCM arrangements are in place to deal with potential consequences of the Corona Virus (ie: 
Staff Sickness, quarantine of buildings, protective measures for front line staff etc.).

9. Service Level Agreements
Service Level Agreements (SLA’s) with District Councils for CPT Officers to provide 
emergency management advice / guidance and support them to align with their statutory 
duties under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 are due to finish 31st March 2020. The SLA 
contracts need to be reviewed and to allow time to do this effectively a variation of contract 
for a 12 month extension has been proposed to district councils. 

10. GCC BCM Audit
Internal Audit will carry out a review of business continuity management within GCC.  The 
full scope of the audit will be agreed during February 2020.

11. Executive Decision Making by an Officer with Delegated Powers

Decisions taken for this reporting period by the Chief Fire Officer Wayne Bowcock:
 Disposal of obsolete structural firefighting PPE 
 Disposal of obsolete operational fire service ladders

Forthcoming decisions to be taken by the Chief Fire Officer in consultation with the LCM:
 Grey book staff ‘continuous professional development’ payment uplift.

Report end

Page 32



Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service

Senior Leadership Team

Chief Fire Officer

Wayne Bowcock

Assistant Chief Fire 
Officer

Mark Preece

Business 
Planning and 

Transformation 

AM Clive 
Webber

Fire Planning

Fire  Performance

Audit

Consultation and 
Communications

Security Governance

Project Management

Risk Fire Register

Data Analysis

Professional Standards

Compliance  
&Assurance

Collaboration

HMICFRS

Business Change & 
Improvement

HR Liaison (GCC)

Equality and Diversity

Syrian Refugees

Coroners

Scott

Riddell

Deputy Chief 

Fire Officer

Temp ACFO Mark 
Astle

Logistics / 
Resources

Equipment

Supplies

Workshops

Fleet 
Management

Procurement

Asset 
Management

Fire Admin

Community 
Safety

AM Adam 
Openshaw

Control

Station 
Management

Response

Prevention

Partnerships

Fire 
Investigation

Road Safety

Workforce 
Planning

Recruitment, 
Selection & 
Promotion

Organisational
Risk 

AM Gavin 
Roberts

Fire 
Enforcement

Operational 
Planning, 

Policy & Risk 
Intelligence

Training 
Policy, 

Development 
and Delivery 

(L&D)

Operational 
Assurance

Health, Safety 
and Welfare

CPT

Trading 
Standards  

Karen Smith

Finance  and 
Compliance 
Maria Boon

Strategic 
Financial 
Planning

Budget 
Management

Financial 
Services 

Liaison (GCC)

Pensions 

Contracts

ICT, Infrastructure 
Resilience and 

Security

Management of 
Data and Comms

ICT Liaison (GCC)

User Support

Systems 
Development

LRF  Manager
Matt Steele

Personal Assistant 
Emma Glynn

Temp Senior Admin 
Support

Gillian Hickman

Information, 
Communication 
and Technology

Rob Lacey

P
age 33



Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
Information, Communication and Technology Team

P
age 34



Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service
Business Planning and Transformation team

P
age 35



Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
Logistics and Resources Team

P
age 36



Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
Finance and Compliance Team

P
age 37



Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
Community Safety Team

Head of Community Safety

Temp AM
Adam Openshaw

Temp Response Lead

GM Tom Burridge 

Control

SM Janet Williams

Control 
Room

Systems/Data 
Admin

WM  Ben Slatter

Response

SM Mark Bostock 

Flexi 

Stn 20

Gartan Data 

Co-ordinator

Sarah Hawkins

LRM Chelt and 
Tewkesbury

SM Kev Adcock

Flexi

LRM Gloucester 
and FOD

SM Jo Singh

Flexi

LRM Stroud 
and Cotswolds

SM Rich Kerry

Flexi

On Call liaison, 
Recruitment and 

Diversity Manager

Temp SM Dean 
Evans

Flexi

Stn 8

On Call liaison 

WM Obi Selassi

On Call liaison 

CM Liana Selecka -Jones

Prevention Lead

Temp 

Donna Potts

SkillZONE
Manager

To be recruited

SkillZONE
Resources 

Officer

Maddy
Jarrett

SkillZONE

Young 
Persons 
Support 
Officer

Louise 
Barks

SkillZONE
Resources 

and 
Volunteer

Co-ordinator

Abi 
Carmichael

SkillZONE
Business 
Admin

Anita 
Charlton

Community Safety 

WM Neil Scott

Community 
Safety 
Officer

To be 
recruited

Safeguarding

& Lead CSA

Paul Barrett 

Safe and  
Social Driving 

Co-ordinator

Jo Arnold

GFRS/OPCC

Admin Support 
Community Safety

To be recruited

SkillZONE
Young 

Persons
Support
Officer
Chris 
Hale 

Red Watch
WM Vacancy
CM Dan Vickery
FFC Holly Carver
FFC Rachel Gray

Black Watch
WM Bruce Rudge
CM Rachel Gorton
FFC Rena Mitchell
FFC Hannah Pellant
FFC Chris Winter 

White Watch
WM Amy Callus
CM Emma Hulland
FFC Jack Mantel
FFC Meg Sherborne

Blue Watch
WM Ben Slatter 
CM Becky Champ
FFC Jenny Holder
FFC Lydia Pilkington 

P
age 38



Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 
Organisational Risk Team

Head of Organisational Risk

AM Gavin Roberts

Learning and Development 
Lead

GM Dave Pike

Operations Planning 
and Policies 
Assurance 

SM Rich Gordon

Flexi 

Stn 3

National 
Operational 

Guidance

WM Phil Dennis

Learning and 
Development

WM Adam Taleb

Learning and 
Development 

CM Mike Ellmore

(3mth secondment) 

Learning  and 
Development

WM Simon 
Robson

Learning and 
Development 

CM Ben King

Job Share 
Driving  

Instructors
Graham 
Timbrell  

Jason Gore

Severn Park

CM Paul King

CM Sue Lowe

CM Jono Bowdler

(3mth secondment) 

CM - vacant

Data Co-ordinator
Training

Paula Nugent

Organisational Assurance and 
Risk lead

GM Ian Tonner

Operations 
Assurance and Risk 

Manager

SM Steve Maginn

Flexi

Stn 2

Ops Assurance 
WM  Leroy Hughes

Health, Safety 
and Welfare  

To be 
recruited

Ops Assurance 

WM  Jon Bird

CAD Mapping

Ade Viner

Legislative Fire 
Safety Risk  Intel

WM Matt Prentice

Legislative Fire 
Safety Risk Intel 

WM Nick Bird

Legislative 
Fire Safety 

Officer

CM Bryan 
Gregory

Legislative 
Fire Safety 

Officer

CM Karen 
Gobey

Legislative 
Fire Safety 

Officer

CM Paul 
Bird

Legislative 
Fire Safety 

Officer

Kev 
Saturley

Legislative 
Fire Safety 

Officer 

Simon Keen 

Legislative 
Fire Safety 

Officer

Vacant

Data Co-ordinator

Stuart Buchan

Business Fire Safety 
Manager

SM Rich Lockyer

Flexi 

Stn 18

CPT 

Team Leader 

Louise Antonova

CPT Officers 

Jess Howell 

Rosie Kelly

Emma Riches

Vacant post

National 
Operational 

Guidance

WM Faisal Atcha

Learning and 
Development Manager

SM Russ Parker

Flexi

Stn 15

Business Fire Safety 
Manager 

SM Clive Pugh 

Non-Flexi

Stn 22

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Adult Social Care and Communities Scrutiny
Committee

Quarter 3 Reporting 2019/20

The following scorecards are enclosed:

This report has been prepared by the Performance & Improvement Team using data up to 31/12/2019

Page No.
Key to Symbols 2
Adult Social Care Performance 3
Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities 6
Public Protection, Parking & Libraries 9
Strategic Risk Register Summary 11

1

P
age 41

A
genda Item

 8

javascript:app.OpenBookmark(1,2243,true,null,null,false,'','');


Risk Impact/Consequence

Likelihood 1
Insignificant

2
Minor

3
Moderate

4
Major

5
Critical

Almost
certain
(5)

5 10 15 20 25

Likely
(4) 4 8 12 16 20

Probable
(3) 3 6 9 12 15

Possible
(2) 2 4 6 8 10

Rare
(1) 1 2 3 4 5

Level of
Risk

Score

Low 1  6
Moderate 7 – 12
High 13 – 25

Performance better than tolerance

Performance within tolerance

Performance worse than tolerance

No information

Missing target

No value

Value Increasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Decreasing (Smaller is Better)

Value Increasing (Bigger is Better)

Value Decreasing (Bigger is Better)

No change

Bigger is better A bigger value for this measure is good

Smaller is
better

A smaller value for this measure is good

Plan is best Where it is best for performance to be on target rather than above or below

Reporting Basis

Year to Date Performance accumulated over the year

Rolling Year Average performance over a 12 month
period

Annual Performance measured once a year

Latest
Quarter

Performance this quarter

Snapshot Performance at a particular point in time

Forecast Predicted position at the end of the year

Key to Symbols

Key to Symbols  Risk

Risk Rating
(calculated by multiplying the Impact with

the Likelihood of each risk)

The Gloucestershire Risk Matrix

2

P
age 42



Adult Social Care Performance

Cllr Kathy Williams    /   Cllr Carole AllawayMartin

Employment & Settled Accommodation

The Proportion of Adults in contact with
secondary mental health services living
independently with or without support

Bigger is Better Quarterly 87.0% 88.0% 87.0% 87.0% 80.0% 54.7%

The Proportion of Adults with a learning
disability who live in their own home or
with their family

Bigger is Better Monthly 76.3% 76.3% 76.5% 76.7% 75.0% 76.7%

Total number of people in Employment
with a Disability (or work limiting health
condition) supported by GCC Forward
Services

Bigger is Better Quarterly 362 379 380

Proportion of people with a Disability (or
work limiting health condition)
supported by GCC Forward Services in
Employment for more than 52 weeks

Bigger is Better Quarterly 75.0% 85.5% 75.0%

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Dec

19 Comments Dec19 Comparator
Group

Reablement & Preventative

Number of Adults in Reablement/Enablement Bigger is Better Snapshot 329 348 315 261 199
Number of Adults in other care (i.e Preventative) Bigger is Better Snapshot 496 720 723 665 512
% of clients with more than 1 episode of reablement
in the last 12 months

Smaller is Better
Latest
Quarter

32.7% 35.6% 29.3%
During Quarter 3 there were 400 adults starting reablement of which 177 had a previous period of
reablement in the last 12 months (29.3%).

% of clients who need no long term care after their
period of reablement

Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

89.6% 85.9% 87.3% 85.3% 85.0%
This indicator now includes data for OP, PD, LD and MH clients (and performance for Quarters 1 &
2 has been updated to reflect this). In Quarter 3 526 of the 619 individuals ending reablement
required no long term care

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Comments Dec19

Admissions & Transfers

Permanent admissions 1864 to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 16.5 16.3 15.7 12.1 9.2 12.0 15.2

Permanent admissions aged 65+ to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 482.6 560.0 450.0 436.4 409.0 472.0 555.9

Delayed transfers of care from hospital
due to Adult Social Care per 100,000
population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 4.19 4.51 4.75 4.93 5.06 4.90 5.50

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Dec

19 Comments Dec19 Comparator
Group

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Dec

19 Comments Dec19 Comparator
Group

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Target Sep

19 Comments Sep19 Comparator
Group

Long Term Care

Number of Adults in Community Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 3,185 3,200 3,209 3,199 3,168
The number of adults (OP, PD and LD) in Community Care has reduced by 0.5% compared to
the same time last year, however the number
is above the target set within the Adult Single Programme.

Number of Adults in Residential Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 1,263 1,289 1,294 1,283 1,233

The number of adults (OP, PD and LD) in Residential Care has reduced by 2.4% compared to
the same time last year, however the number is above the target set within the Adult Single
Programme. This is predominantly down to the continued rise in the number of Dementia
individuals being supported.

Number of Adults in Nursing Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 657 632 651 652 624

The number of adults (OP, PD and LD) in Nursing Care has reduced by 5.0% compared to the
same time last year, however the number is above the target set within the Adult Single
Programme. As with residential care this is predominantly down to the continued rise in the
number of Dementia individuals being supported.

% of Service Users who have had a review/ re
assessment of their needs within the last 12 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 73.1% 68.6% 61.7% 53.8% 46.1% 80.0%

Average number of weeks an individual waits for a
Carers Assessment

Smaller is Better Snapshot 1.0 1.3 3.0 6.0

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Comments Dec19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Dec

19 Comments Dec19

Customer Services

% of calls offered that are answered Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

90% 94% 96% 96% 98% 95%

Improved staffing availability, a significant downturn in calls over the quarter
and improved filtering of calls via automated routing on the switchboard
combined to give a 99% answered rate in Nov and Dec. This will be monitored
as the new phone system embeds.

% of ASC contacts signposted or closed Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

31.7% 32.7% 34.2% 32.0% 33.0% 33.0%

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Qtr

Dec19 Comments Dec19

Adult Social Care: ASCOF

Social care reported quality of life
Bigger is
Better

Annual 19.3 19.4 19.7 19.1 19.6 18.1

The proportion of those using social care who say they
have control over their daily lives

Bigger is
Better

Annual 78.0% 79.2% 81.9% 77.5% 79.7% 74.5%

Carer reported Quality of Life
Bigger is
Better

Annual 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.0

Overall satisfaction of people who use services with their
care and support

Bigger is
Better

Annual 66.9% 65.7% 69.0% 63.5% 67.4% 62.9%

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Year in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Mar17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Mar19 Comparator

Group

3

P
age 43

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C1','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A2','Col10')


Adult Social Care Performance

Cllr Kathy Williams    /   Cllr Carole AllawayMartin

Employment & Settled Accommodation

The Proportion of Adults in contact with
secondary mental health services living
independently with or without support

Bigger is Better Quarterly 87.0% 88.0% 87.0% 87.0% 80.0% 54.7%

The Proportion of Adults with a learning
disability who live in their own home or
with their family

Bigger is Better Monthly 76.3% 76.3% 76.5% 76.7% 75.0% 76.7%

Total number of people in Employment
with a Disability (or work limiting health
condition) supported by GCC Forward
Services

Bigger is Better Quarterly 362 379 380

Proportion of people with a Disability (or
work limiting health condition)
supported by GCC Forward Services in
Employment for more than 52 weeks

Bigger is Better Quarterly 75.0% 85.5% 75.0%

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Dec

19 Comments Dec19 Comparator
Group

Reablement & Preventative

Number of Adults in Reablement/Enablement Bigger is Better Snapshot 329 348 315 261 199
Number of Adults in other care (i.e Preventative) Bigger is Better Snapshot 496 720 723 665 512
% of clients with more than 1 episode of reablement
in the last 12 months

Smaller is Better
Latest
Quarter

32.7% 35.6% 29.3%
During Quarter 3 there were 400 adults starting reablement of which 177 had a previous period of
reablement in the last 12 months (29.3%).

% of clients who need no long term care after their
period of reablement

Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

89.6% 85.9% 87.3% 85.3% 85.0%
This indicator now includes data for OP, PD, LD and MH clients (and performance for Quarters 1 &
2 has been updated to reflect this). In Quarter 3 526 of the 619 individuals ending reablement
required no long term care

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Comments Dec19

Admissions & Transfers

Permanent admissions 1864 to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 16.5 16.3 15.7 12.1 9.2 12.0 15.2

Permanent admissions aged 65+ to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 482.6 560.0 450.0 436.4 409.0 472.0 555.9

Delayed transfers of care from hospital
due to Adult Social Care per 100,000
population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 4.19 4.51 4.75 4.93 5.06 4.90 5.50

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Dec

19 Comments Dec19 Comparator
Group

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Dec

19 Comments Dec19 Comparator
Group

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Target Sep

19 Comments Sep19 Comparator
Group

Long Term Care

Number of Adults in Community Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 3,185 3,200 3,209 3,199 3,168
The number of adults (OP, PD and LD) in Community Care has reduced by 0.5% compared to
the same time last year, however the number
is above the target set within the Adult Single Programme.

Number of Adults in Residential Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 1,263 1,289 1,294 1,283 1,233

The number of adults (OP, PD and LD) in Residential Care has reduced by 2.4% compared to
the same time last year, however the number is above the target set within the Adult Single
Programme. This is predominantly down to the continued rise in the number of Dementia
individuals being supported.

Number of Adults in Nursing Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 657 632 651 652 624

The number of adults (OP, PD and LD) in Nursing Care has reduced by 5.0% compared to the
same time last year, however the number is above the target set within the Adult Single
Programme. As with residential care this is predominantly down to the continued rise in the
number of Dementia individuals being supported.

% of Service Users who have had a review/ re
assessment of their needs within the last 12 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 73.1% 68.6% 61.7% 53.8% 46.1% 80.0%

Average number of weeks an individual waits for a
Carers Assessment

Smaller is Better Snapshot 1.0 1.3 3.0 6.0

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Comments Dec19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Dec

19 Comments Dec19

Customer Services

% of calls offered that are answered Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

90% 94% 96% 96% 98% 95%

Improved staffing availability, a significant downturn in calls over the quarter
and improved filtering of calls via automated routing on the switchboard
combined to give a 99% answered rate in Nov and Dec. This will be monitored
as the new phone system embeds.

% of ASC contacts signposted or closed Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

31.7% 32.7% 34.2% 32.0% 33.0% 33.0%

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Qtr

Dec19 Comments Dec19

Adult Social Care: ASCOF

Social care reported quality of life
Bigger is
Better

Annual 19.3 19.4 19.7 19.1 19.6 18.1

The proportion of those using social care who say they
have control over their daily lives

Bigger is
Better

Annual 78.0% 79.2% 81.9% 77.5% 79.7% 74.5%

Carer reported Quality of Life
Bigger is
Better

Annual 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.0

Overall satisfaction of people who use services with their
care and support

Bigger is
Better

Annual 66.9% 65.7% 69.0% 63.5% 67.4% 62.9%

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Year in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Mar17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Mar19 Comparator

Group

4

P
age 44

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col19')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col19')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col20')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col22')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col23')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col24')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col25')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col26')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col29')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D4','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D1','Col11')


Adult Social Care Performance

Cllr Kathy Williams    /   Cllr Carole AllawayMartin

Employment & Settled Accommodation

The Proportion of Adults in contact with
secondary mental health services living
independently with or without support

Bigger is Better Quarterly 87.0% 88.0% 87.0% 87.0% 80.0% 54.7%

The Proportion of Adults with a learning
disability who live in their own home or
with their family

Bigger is Better Monthly 76.3% 76.3% 76.5% 76.7% 75.0% 76.7%

Total number of people in Employment
with a Disability (or work limiting health
condition) supported by GCC Forward
Services

Bigger is Better Quarterly 362 379 380

Proportion of people with a Disability (or
work limiting health condition)
supported by GCC Forward Services in
Employment for more than 52 weeks

Bigger is Better Quarterly 75.0% 85.5% 75.0%

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Dec

19 Comments Dec19 Comparator
Group

Reablement & Preventative

Number of Adults in Reablement/Enablement Bigger is Better Snapshot 329 348 315 261 199
Number of Adults in other care (i.e Preventative) Bigger is Better Snapshot 496 720 723 665 512
% of clients with more than 1 episode of reablement
in the last 12 months

Smaller is Better
Latest
Quarter

32.7% 35.6% 29.3%
During Quarter 3 there were 400 adults starting reablement of which 177 had a previous period of
reablement in the last 12 months (29.3%).

% of clients who need no long term care after their
period of reablement

Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

89.6% 85.9% 87.3% 85.3% 85.0%
This indicator now includes data for OP, PD, LD and MH clients (and performance for Quarters 1 &
2 has been updated to reflect this). In Quarter 3 526 of the 619 individuals ending reablement
required no long term care

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Comments Dec19

Admissions & Transfers

Permanent admissions 1864 to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 16.5 16.3 15.7 12.1 9.2 12.0 15.2

Permanent admissions aged 65+ to
residential & nursing care homes per
100,000 population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 482.6 560.0 450.0 436.4 409.0 472.0 555.9

Delayed transfers of care from hospital
due to Adult Social Care per 100,000
population

Smaller is Better Rolling Year 4.19 4.51 4.75 4.93 5.06 4.90 5.50

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Dec

19 Comments Dec19 Comparator
Group

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Dec

19 Comments Dec19 Comparator
Group

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (In Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Target Sep

19 Comments Sep19 Comparator
Group

Long Term Care

Number of Adults in Community Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 3,185 3,200 3,209 3,199 3,168
The number of adults (OP, PD and LD) in Community Care has reduced by 0.5% compared to
the same time last year, however the number
is above the target set within the Adult Single Programme.

Number of Adults in Residential Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 1,263 1,289 1,294 1,283 1,233

The number of adults (OP, PD and LD) in Residential Care has reduced by 2.4% compared to
the same time last year, however the number is above the target set within the Adult Single
Programme. This is predominantly down to the continued rise in the number of Dementia
individuals being supported.

Number of Adults in Nursing Care Smaller is Better Snapshot 657 632 651 652 624

The number of adults (OP, PD and LD) in Nursing Care has reduced by 5.0% compared to the
same time last year, however the number is above the target set within the Adult Single
Programme. As with residential care this is predominantly down to the continued rise in the
number of Dementia individuals being supported.

% of Service Users who have had a review/ re
assessment of their needs within the last 12 months

Bigger is Better Snapshot 73.1% 68.6% 61.7% 53.8% 46.1% 80.0%

Average number of weeks an individual waits for a
Carers Assessment

Smaller is Better Snapshot 1.0 1.3 3.0 6.0

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Comments Dec19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Dec

19 Comments Dec19

Customer Services

% of calls offered that are answered Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

90% 94% 96% 96% 98% 95%

Improved staffing availability, a significant downturn in calls over the quarter
and improved filtering of calls via automated routing on the switchboard
combined to give a 99% answered rate in Nov and Dec. This will be monitored
as the new phone system embeds.

% of ASC contacts signposted or closed Bigger is Better
Latest
Quarter

31.7% 32.7% 34.2% 32.0% 33.0% 33.0%

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Target Qtr

Dec19 Comments Dec19

Adult Social Care: ASCOF

Social care reported quality of life
Bigger is
Better

Annual 19.3 19.4 19.7 19.1 19.6 18.1

The proportion of those using social care who say they
have control over their daily lives

Bigger is
Better

Annual 78.0% 79.2% 81.9% 77.5% 79.7% 74.5%

Carer reported Quality of Life
Bigger is
Better

Annual 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.4 7.0

Overall satisfaction of people who use services with their
care and support

Bigger is
Better

Annual 66.9% 65.7% 69.0% 63.5% 67.4% 62.9%

Annual Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Year in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis Qtr Mar15 Qtr Mar16 Qtr Mar17 Qtr Mar18 Qtr Mar19 Comments Mar19 Comparator

Group

5

P
age 45

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B1','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col14')


Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities
Cllr Tim Harman

% of eligible patients
offered a NHS Health
Check

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

2.0% 2.5% 4.4% 4.0% 3.4% 5.0%

Note: performance data is now being taken from an alternative source
due to technical issues with the external tool previously used to
collate GP performance data. This may result in some variance from
previously reported trends.

The data is based on GP submissions. A small number of submissions are
outstanding; and the Q3 return will be updated when these are received.

The percentage of the eligible population who have been invited for an
NHS Health Check has fallen slightly on Q2, but remains in line with the SW
average for this indicator. Some variance between quarters is to be
expected as GPs will differ in how they phase their invites across the year.

% of all customers who
achieve a significant risk
factor improvement

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

72.0% 68.0% 72.0% 70.0% 70.0% 75.0%

Overall the numbers achieving a significant risk factor improvement has
remained stable but below target with 70% (725/1040) being achieved in
Q2 compared to 70% (813/1167) in Q3.

Of the 354 people that did not achieve the threshold for significant
improvement 220 made some improvement in achieving their behaviour
change goal.  Therefore in total 89% (1033/1167) made some improvement
that will impact on their health.

We are undertaking a piece of work with the performance team to do a
'deep dive' into this data to explore ways to improve performance and
understand the impact that each lifestyle behaviour has on the overall
ability to reach the target.

% of infants being
breastfed at 68 weeks
(breastfeeding prevalence)

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 54.3% 53.7% 56.3% 54.6% 54.3%

Q2 is in line with previous quarters but result  remains below the local aim of
58%.  The retention rate of mothers recorded as breastfeeding at 2 weeks who
are still breastfeeding at 8 weeks is 80.5%. Through the  the health visiting
service GCC commissions targeted support for  areas with lower rates of uptake
and younger mums .
A Breastfeeding Social marketing pilot has started in Gloucester city aiming to
test and learn what localised support could be most effective in areas of lowest
prevalence.Further initiatives contributing to increasing Breastfeeding rates are
facilitated by the Gloucestershire Infant Feeding Strategic partnership led by
GCC.

43.8%

% of pregnant smokers
achieving a 4 week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

80.6% 64.0% 52.3% 78.5% 77.2% 70.0%

Data for this indicator is reported a quarter behind to be in
line with national reporting requirements.

Q2 achievement is 77.2% (34/44) against a target of 70%,
compared to 78.5% (44/56) for Q1.

The % of pregnant women achieving a 4 week quit is broken
down into those accessing support from the Healthy Lifestyles
Service (HLS) and those receiving support via the Public
Health Enhanced Service (PHES) contracts with GP's and
Pharmacy's.  Last quarter the PHES achieved 16.6% (1/6) quit
rate but in Q2 this was 0% (0/4).  HLS achieved 85% quit rate
(34/40) compared to 86% 43/50) in Q1.

Although the % is stable across the last 2 quarters, this quarter
we have seen a lower number of women coming into the
service (40 in Q2 compared to 50 in Q1).  The service
received fewer referrals this quarter and it was also more
difficult to make contact with women to arrange support due to
the summer holiday period.

This performance is significantly above the national average
of 50%

Proportion of adult alcohol
misusers who have left
treatment successfully

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

32.6% 32.1% 38.7% 37.7% 38.8% 35.0%

Performance continues to improve and achieves the contract
requirement. The provider require minimum of 8  further
completions to be in the Public Health England top quartile
of comparator areas

36.3%

Proportion of all Opiate
Users in treatment, who
successfully completed
treatment and did not
represent within 6 months
of completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

4.6% 5.3% 7.0% 7.5% 7.5% 6.3%
Performance continues to improve and achieves the contract
requirement. The provider is in the Public Health England top
quartile of comparator areas

5.1%

Proportion of all Non
Opiate Users in treatment,
not representing 6 months
after completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

27.2% 26.9% 32.5% 32.8% 33.4% 28.3%
Performance has dipped slightly but achieves the contract
requirement. The provider remains in the Public Health
England top quartile of comparator areas

30.8%

% of Universal partnership
plus infants who receive a
new birth visit by 30 days
old

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

94.1% 100.0% 100.0% 97.2% 98.4% 100.0%

Families are categorised by level of need indicators Universal
(U),Universal Plus (UP) and Universal partnership plus (UPP).
These are nationally recognised offers in Health Visiting. This
indicator relates to the highest need category (UPP).
From a cohort of 60 eligible UPP children 45 received their
new birth visit within 14 days and a further 14 UPP children
within the 30 days timeframe. The remaining child was not
seen as following discharge from NICU went into foster
placement out of county.

% of Universal Partnership
Plus children who received
a 12 month review by the
age of 15 months

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

90.3% 96.2% 95.8% 93.8% 93.8% 100.0%

Families are categorised by level of need indicators Universal
(U),Universal Plus (UP) and Universal partnership plus (UPP).
These are nationally recognised offers in Health Visiting. This
indicator relates to the highest need category (UPP). From a
cohort of 81 eligible UPP children 76 received their one year
review and of the remaining 5 reasons were non attendance,
declined and movement into area so delayed. These children
will have their appointment rebooked as per protocol for UP
and UPP children.
The number of children that have had their 12 month review
by 15 months has remained over 90% .

Suicide rate per 100,000
Population

Smaller is
Better

3 Year
Average

12.2 10.6 10.8 9.8 10.4 9.6 10.0

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19
Target Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Comments Qtr Sep19 Comparator

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19
Target Qtr
Sep19

Comments Qtr Sep19 Comparator

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19
Target Qtr
Sep19

Comments Qtr Sep19 Comparator

Three Year Average Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar16
(1214)

Qtr Mar17
(1315)

Qtr Mar18
(1416)

Qtr Mar19
(1517)

Qtr Dec19
(1618)

Target Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19 Comparator

6

P
age 46

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col19')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col13')


Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities
Cllr Tim Harman

% of eligible patients
offered a NHS Health
Check

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

2.0% 2.5% 4.4% 4.0% 3.4% 5.0%

Note: performance data is now being taken from an alternative source
due to technical issues with the external tool previously used to
collate GP performance data. This may result in some variance from
previously reported trends.

The data is based on GP submissions. A small number of submissions are
outstanding; and the Q3 return will be updated when these are received.

The percentage of the eligible population who have been invited for an
NHS Health Check has fallen slightly on Q2, but remains in line with the SW
average for this indicator. Some variance between quarters is to be
expected as GPs will differ in how they phase their invites across the year.

% of all customers who
achieve a significant risk
factor improvement

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

72.0% 68.0% 72.0% 70.0% 70.0% 75.0%

Overall the numbers achieving a significant risk factor improvement has
remained stable but below target with 70% (725/1040) being achieved in
Q2 compared to 70% (813/1167) in Q3.

Of the 354 people that did not achieve the threshold for significant
improvement 220 made some improvement in achieving their behaviour
change goal.  Therefore in total 89% (1033/1167) made some improvement
that will impact on their health.

We are undertaking a piece of work with the performance team to do a
'deep dive' into this data to explore ways to improve performance and
understand the impact that each lifestyle behaviour has on the overall
ability to reach the target.

% of infants being
breastfed at 68 weeks
(breastfeeding prevalence)

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 54.3% 53.7% 56.3% 54.6% 54.3%

Q2 is in line with previous quarters but result  remains below the local aim of
58%.  The retention rate of mothers recorded as breastfeeding at 2 weeks who
are still breastfeeding at 8 weeks is 80.5%. Through the  the health visiting
service GCC commissions targeted support for  areas with lower rates of uptake
and younger mums .
A Breastfeeding Social marketing pilot has started in Gloucester city aiming to
test and learn what localised support could be most effective in areas of lowest
prevalence.Further initiatives contributing to increasing Breastfeeding rates are
facilitated by the Gloucestershire Infant Feeding Strategic partnership led by
GCC.

43.8%

% of pregnant smokers
achieving a 4 week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

80.6% 64.0% 52.3% 78.5% 77.2% 70.0%

Data for this indicator is reported a quarter behind to be in
line with national reporting requirements.

Q2 achievement is 77.2% (34/44) against a target of 70%,
compared to 78.5% (44/56) for Q1.

The % of pregnant women achieving a 4 week quit is broken
down into those accessing support from the Healthy Lifestyles
Service (HLS) and those receiving support via the Public
Health Enhanced Service (PHES) contracts with GP's and
Pharmacy's.  Last quarter the PHES achieved 16.6% (1/6) quit
rate but in Q2 this was 0% (0/4).  HLS achieved 85% quit rate
(34/40) compared to 86% 43/50) in Q1.

Although the % is stable across the last 2 quarters, this quarter
we have seen a lower number of women coming into the
service (40 in Q2 compared to 50 in Q1).  The service
received fewer referrals this quarter and it was also more
difficult to make contact with women to arrange support due to
the summer holiday period.

This performance is significantly above the national average
of 50%

Proportion of adult alcohol
misusers who have left
treatment successfully

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

32.6% 32.1% 38.7% 37.7% 38.8% 35.0%

Performance continues to improve and achieves the contract
requirement. The provider require minimum of 8  further
completions to be in the Public Health England top quartile
of comparator areas

36.3%

Proportion of all Opiate
Users in treatment, who
successfully completed
treatment and did not
represent within 6 months
of completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

4.6% 5.3% 7.0% 7.5% 7.5% 6.3%
Performance continues to improve and achieves the contract
requirement. The provider is in the Public Health England top
quartile of comparator areas

5.1%

Proportion of all Non
Opiate Users in treatment,
not representing 6 months
after completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

27.2% 26.9% 32.5% 32.8% 33.4% 28.3%
Performance has dipped slightly but achieves the contract
requirement. The provider remains in the Public Health
England top quartile of comparator areas

30.8%

% of Universal partnership
plus infants who receive a
new birth visit by 30 days
old

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

94.1% 100.0% 100.0% 97.2% 98.4% 100.0%

Families are categorised by level of need indicators Universal
(U),Universal Plus (UP) and Universal partnership plus (UPP).
These are nationally recognised offers in Health Visiting. This
indicator relates to the highest need category (UPP).
From a cohort of 60 eligible UPP children 45 received their
new birth visit within 14 days and a further 14 UPP children
within the 30 days timeframe. The remaining child was not
seen as following discharge from NICU went into foster
placement out of county.

% of Universal Partnership
Plus children who received
a 12 month review by the
age of 15 months

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

90.3% 96.2% 95.8% 93.8% 93.8% 100.0%

Families are categorised by level of need indicators Universal
(U),Universal Plus (UP) and Universal partnership plus (UPP).
These are nationally recognised offers in Health Visiting. This
indicator relates to the highest need category (UPP). From a
cohort of 81 eligible UPP children 76 received their one year
review and of the remaining 5 reasons were non attendance,
declined and movement into area so delayed. These children
will have their appointment rebooked as per protocol for UP
and UPP children.
The number of children that have had their 12 month review
by 15 months has remained over 90% .

Suicide rate per 100,000
Population

Smaller is
Better

3 Year
Average

12.2 10.6 10.8 9.8 10.4 9.6 10.0

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19
Target Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Comments Qtr Sep19 Comparator

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19
Target Qtr
Sep19

Comments Qtr Sep19 Comparator

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19
Target Qtr
Sep19

Comments Qtr Sep19 Comparator

Three Year Average Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar16
(1214)

Qtr Mar17
(1315)

Qtr Mar18
(1416)

Qtr Mar19
(1517)

Qtr Dec19
(1618)

Target Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19 Comparator

7

P
age 47

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col17')


Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities
Cllr Tim Harman

% of eligible patients
offered a NHS Health
Check

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

2.0% 2.5% 4.4% 4.0% 3.4% 5.0%

Note: performance data is now being taken from an alternative source
due to technical issues with the external tool previously used to
collate GP performance data. This may result in some variance from
previously reported trends.

The data is based on GP submissions. A small number of submissions are
outstanding; and the Q3 return will be updated when these are received.

The percentage of the eligible population who have been invited for an
NHS Health Check has fallen slightly on Q2, but remains in line with the SW
average for this indicator. Some variance between quarters is to be
expected as GPs will differ in how they phase their invites across the year.

% of all customers who
achieve a significant risk
factor improvement

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

72.0% 68.0% 72.0% 70.0% 70.0% 75.0%

Overall the numbers achieving a significant risk factor improvement has
remained stable but below target with 70% (725/1040) being achieved in
Q2 compared to 70% (813/1167) in Q3.

Of the 354 people that did not achieve the threshold for significant
improvement 220 made some improvement in achieving their behaviour
change goal.  Therefore in total 89% (1033/1167) made some improvement
that will impact on their health.

We are undertaking a piece of work with the performance team to do a
'deep dive' into this data to explore ways to improve performance and
understand the impact that each lifestyle behaviour has on the overall
ability to reach the target.

% of infants being
breastfed at 68 weeks
(breastfeeding prevalence)

Bigger is
Better

Rolling Year 54.3% 53.7% 56.3% 54.6% 54.3%

Q2 is in line with previous quarters but result  remains below the local aim of
58%.  The retention rate of mothers recorded as breastfeeding at 2 weeks who
are still breastfeeding at 8 weeks is 80.5%. Through the  the health visiting
service GCC commissions targeted support for  areas with lower rates of uptake
and younger mums .
A Breastfeeding Social marketing pilot has started in Gloucester city aiming to
test and learn what localised support could be most effective in areas of lowest
prevalence.Further initiatives contributing to increasing Breastfeeding rates are
facilitated by the Gloucestershire Infant Feeding Strategic partnership led by
GCC.

43.8%

% of pregnant smokers
achieving a 4 week quit

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

80.6% 64.0% 52.3% 78.5% 77.2% 70.0%

Data for this indicator is reported a quarter behind to be in
line with national reporting requirements.

Q2 achievement is 77.2% (34/44) against a target of 70%,
compared to 78.5% (44/56) for Q1.

The % of pregnant women achieving a 4 week quit is broken
down into those accessing support from the Healthy Lifestyles
Service (HLS) and those receiving support via the Public
Health Enhanced Service (PHES) contracts with GP's and
Pharmacy's.  Last quarter the PHES achieved 16.6% (1/6) quit
rate but in Q2 this was 0% (0/4).  HLS achieved 85% quit rate
(34/40) compared to 86% 43/50) in Q1.

Although the % is stable across the last 2 quarters, this quarter
we have seen a lower number of women coming into the
service (40 in Q2 compared to 50 in Q1).  The service
received fewer referrals this quarter and it was also more
difficult to make contact with women to arrange support due to
the summer holiday period.

This performance is significantly above the national average
of 50%

Proportion of adult alcohol
misusers who have left
treatment successfully

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

32.6% 32.1% 38.7% 37.7% 38.8% 35.0%

Performance continues to improve and achieves the contract
requirement. The provider require minimum of 8  further
completions to be in the Public Health England top quartile
of comparator areas

36.3%

Proportion of all Opiate
Users in treatment, who
successfully completed
treatment and did not
represent within 6 months
of completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

4.6% 5.3% 7.0% 7.5% 7.5% 6.3%
Performance continues to improve and achieves the contract
requirement. The provider is in the Public Health England top
quartile of comparator areas

5.1%

Proportion of all Non
Opiate Users in treatment,
not representing 6 months
after completion

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

27.2% 26.9% 32.5% 32.8% 33.4% 28.3%
Performance has dipped slightly but achieves the contract
requirement. The provider remains in the Public Health
England top quartile of comparator areas

30.8%

% of Universal partnership
plus infants who receive a
new birth visit by 30 days
old

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

94.1% 100.0% 100.0% 97.2% 98.4% 100.0%

Families are categorised by level of need indicators Universal
(U),Universal Plus (UP) and Universal partnership plus (UPP).
These are nationally recognised offers in Health Visiting. This
indicator relates to the highest need category (UPP).
From a cohort of 60 eligible UPP children 45 received their
new birth visit within 14 days and a further 14 UPP children
within the 30 days timeframe. The remaining child was not
seen as following discharge from NICU went into foster
placement out of county.

% of Universal Partnership
Plus children who received
a 12 month review by the
age of 15 months

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

90.3% 96.2% 95.8% 93.8% 93.8% 100.0%

Families are categorised by level of need indicators Universal
(U),Universal Plus (UP) and Universal partnership plus (UPP).
These are nationally recognised offers in Health Visiting. This
indicator relates to the highest need category (UPP). From a
cohort of 81 eligible UPP children 76 received their one year
review and of the remaining 5 reasons were non attendance,
declined and movement into area so delayed. These children
will have their appointment rebooked as per protocol for UP
and UPP children.
The number of children that have had their 12 month review
by 15 months has remained over 90% .

Suicide rate per 100,000
Population

Smaller is
Better

3 Year
Average

12.2 10.6 10.8 9.8 10.4 9.6 10.0

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19
Target Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Comments Qtr Sep19 Comparator

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19
Target Qtr
Sep19

Comments Qtr Sep19 Comparator

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target (1 Quarter in Arrears)
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Sep18 Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19
Target Qtr
Sep19

Comments Qtr Sep19 Comparator

Three Year Average Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Mar16
(1214)

Qtr Mar17
(1315)

Qtr Mar18
(1416)

Qtr Mar19
(1517)

Qtr Dec19
(1618)

Target Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19 Comparator

8

P
age 48

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col14')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C3','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E4','Col15')


Public Protection, Parking & Libraries
Cllr Dave Norman

Trading Standards

% achieved positive
outcome with respect to
activities

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

92.00 93.00 96.00 96.00 95.00 90.00

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19
Target Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19

Fire & Rescue

Number of Safe and Well
visits undertaken

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 6,033 8,058 1,626 3,044 4,395 6,033

The aspirational annual target of 8,000 Safe and Well visits is starting to
drop off as crews undertake more complex and time consuming visits.
Following a change in structure across the Service operational crews are
also dedicating more time to core operational training, this time in turn has
been taken away from the time allocated to Safe and well visits. To balance
this, the Prevention department have employed dedicated staff and new
admin to assist in the booking of visits and assist with the more complex
Safe and Well visits. Over time the numbers will start to increase towards the
target. GFRS strive to deliver against the target, but understand that these
changes will take time to embed so may continue to see a reduced number
until the available resource is fully embedded.

% of incidents of dwelling
fires attended within 8
minutes  Risk Category 1

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

92.9% 93.0% 60.0% 90.5% 90.0% 80.0%

% of Safe and Well visits
undertaken to those in high
risk groups

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

77.0% 78.0% 82.0% 78.0% 80.0% 75.0%

Number of Accidental
Dwelling Fires

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

94 64 65 84 55 67

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19
Target Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19

Libraries

Number of lighttouch
business interactions
supported by the Growth
Hubs

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 276 185 228

Number of active borrowers
of estock

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 19,525 27,490 8,386 15,448 21,975 18,000

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Comments Qtr Dec19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19
Target Dec
19

Comments Qtr Dec19

Road Safety

Number of killed and
seriously injured people

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 203 282 63 153 236 214

The number of killed or seriously injured casualties has increased over the
past two quarters.  This increase may be as a result of more accurate data
being supplied to us by Gloucestershire Constabulary, following the return of
Roads Policing to cover just the County's area in April.

Number of killed and
seriously injured children

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 6 8 5 11 14 11

Incidents among young people were unexpectedly low in 2018/19, forecasts
may be too low based on this anomalous year.  Incident numbers in the first
three quarters of 2019/20 reflect similar levels to 2017/18.The increase in
reported incidents maybe as a result of more accurate data being supplied
to us by Gloucestershire Constabulary.

Number of killed and
seriously injured older
people

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 52 69 16 33 55 50

Quarterly Trend Analysis
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19
Forecast Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19

9

P
age 49

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col18')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Public Protection, Parking & Libraries
Cllr Dave Norman

Trading Standards

% achieved positive
outcome with respect to
activities

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

92.00 93.00 96.00 96.00 95.00 90.00

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19
Target Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19

Fire & Rescue

Number of Safe and Well
visits undertaken

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 6,033 8,058 1,626 3,044 4,395 6,033

The aspirational annual target of 8,000 Safe and Well visits is starting to
drop off as crews undertake more complex and time consuming visits.
Following a change in structure across the Service operational crews are
also dedicating more time to core operational training, this time in turn has
been taken away from the time allocated to Safe and well visits. To balance
this, the Prevention department have employed dedicated staff and new
admin to assist in the booking of visits and assist with the more complex
Safe and Well visits. Over time the numbers will start to increase towards the
target. GFRS strive to deliver against the target, but understand that these
changes will take time to embed so may continue to see a reduced number
until the available resource is fully embedded.

% of incidents of dwelling
fires attended within 8
minutes  Risk Category 1

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

92.9% 93.0% 60.0% 90.5% 90.0% 80.0%

% of Safe and Well visits
undertaken to those in high
risk groups

Bigger is
Better

Latest
Quarter

77.0% 78.0% 82.0% 78.0% 80.0% 75.0%

Number of Accidental
Dwelling Fires

Smaller is
Better

Latest
Quarter

94 64 65 84 55 67

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19
Target Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19

Libraries

Number of lighttouch
business interactions
supported by the Growth
Hubs

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 276 185 228

Number of active borrowers
of estock

Bigger is
Better

Year to Date 19,525 27,490 8,386 15,448 21,975 18,000

Quarterly Trend Analysis  No Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19 Comments Qtr Dec19

Quarterly Trend Analysis  Against a Target
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19
Target Dec
19

Comments Qtr Dec19

Road Safety

Number of killed and
seriously injured people

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 203 282 63 153 236 214

The number of killed or seriously injured casualties has increased over the
past two quarters.  This increase may be as a result of more accurate data
being supplied to us by Gloucestershire Constabulary, following the return of
Roads Policing to cover just the County's area in April.

Number of killed and
seriously injured children

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 6 8 5 11 14 11

Incidents among young people were unexpectedly low in 2018/19, forecasts
may be too low based on this anomalous year.  Incident numbers in the first
three quarters of 2019/20 reflect similar levels to 2017/18.The increase in
reported incidents maybe as a result of more accurate data being supplied
to us by Gloucestershire Constabulary.

Number of killed and
seriously injured older
people

Smaller is
Better

Year to Date 52 69 16 33 55 50

Quarterly Trend Analysis
Good
Performance
High/Low

Reporting
Basis

Qtr Dec18 Qtr Mar19 Qtr Jun19 Qtr Sep19 Qtr Dec19
Forecast Qtr
Dec19

Comments Qtr Dec19

10

P
age 50

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col16')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col17')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col15')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('C2','Col7')


Strategic Risk Summary

SR5.3 Provider failures result in the council being unable to achieve its
strategic objectives

Willcox,
Margaret

High 25 Moderate 10

SR7.1
Failure to protect vulnerable adults in Gloucestershire from
abuse neglect in situations that potentially could have been
predicted and prevented.

Willcox,
Margaret

High 20 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10 Moderate 10

The Safeguarding Adults Road Shows are due to
commence this quarter. The target audience this year
is staff from the voluntary and community sector. The
sessions will be held at various locations across the
county and will be raising awareness about
responding to safeguarding concerns, the Mental
Capacity Act and learning from Safeguarding Adults
Reviews.

SR7.6

Unable to support all those who can, to live independently at
home, because demand for home care services outstrips
available capacity. Resulting in the reliance on temporary
respite/alternative bed based care in lieu of home care

Willcox,
Margaret

High 20 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15 High 15
Continued Focus on Integrated brokerage and
Commissioning to respond quicker to people leaving
hospital and to support local providers.

SR7.8

Risk of legal action being taken against the Local Authority due
to failure to complete a Deprivation of Liberty assessment
within the stated time lines. Since a significant and sudden
change in the law due to a Supreme Court Judgement in March
2014 there is an excessively high demand for best interest
assessments to be carried out for Deprivation of Liberty (DoLS)
authorisations.

Willcox,
Margaret High 20 Moderate 9

NEW RISK. All DoLS applications and reviews are
prioritised in line with the ADASS screening tool.
ADASS guidance is followed to identify 'technical' (low
risk) breaches and 'substantive' (high risk) breaches.
MTFS bid made for additional staff to address the
backlog and prepare for the forthcoming change in
legislation. Review exercise undertaken periodically
on the outstanding applications to monitor changes in
circumstance and potential increased risk.

SR10.1

Failure of the Council or a key partner to effectively respond to
a major incident such as flooding that results in community
disruption and failure to return to normal, within required
timescales.

Bowcock,
Wayne

High 15 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9 Moderate 9

SR10.4

Due to insufficient business continuity management
arrangements failure of the Council or a key partner to
effectively deliver their statutory services, resulting in
community disruption and failure of corporate objectives.

Bowcock,
Wayne High 16 Moderate 12

A review of business continuity management has
been undertaken and briefed to CLT.  Support being
provided to the Business Continuity Board to develop,
review and arrange testing of Business Continuity
Plans across GCC.

Strategic Risk 5: Organisational Change Programmes (New Qtr 3 19/20)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Dec19
Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Dec18
Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun19

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep19

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults (New Quarter 1 2018/19)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Dec18
Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun19

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep19

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 7: Safeguarding Children & Young People and Adults (New Quarter 3 2019/20)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Dec19
Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Dec18
Residual Risk
Qtr Mar19

Residual Risk
Qtr Jun19

Residual Risk
Qtr Sep19

Residual Risk
Qtr Dec19

Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

Strategic Risk 10: Emergency Response & Business Continuity Threats (New Qtr 3 19/20)
Ref. Risk Owner Inherent Risk Residual Risk

Qtr Dec19
Direction of
Travel

Mitigating Actions

11

P
age 51

javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('B2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E2','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col12')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col13')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('A3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col5')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col6')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col7')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col8')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('D3','Col11')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col1')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col2')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col3')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col4')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col9')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col10')
javascript:sortRowsViewMode('E3','Col11')


T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

Deep Dive 

Social Isolation & 

Loneliness 

2019 

 

 

 

 

#loneliness  

 

Final Draft: 20th August 2019 

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 9



2 
 

Foreword 

The relationships we have with our friends, family, neighbours and colleagues are, 

for many of us, the most important things in our lives. There is a strong link between 

having meaningful social connections and living a healthy and fulfilled life. We also 

know that having more connected communities means a more thriving, productive 

society, in which we can all contribute and live fulfilling lives.  

Loneliness and isolation is not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as ‘an 

objective state determined by the quantity of social relationships and contacts 

between individuals, across groups and communities.’ Meanwhile loneliness is 

defined as ‘a subjective state based on a person’s emotional perception of the 

number and/or quality of social connections they need compared to what is currently 

being experienced’. Therefore, it is possible for an individual to be socially isolated 

without feeling lonely, or conversely feel lonely without being socially isolated. 

We know that loneliness can affect anyone – from teenagers and young adults to 

new parents, carers, and the recently bereaved, from students starting university to 

older people and those with disabilities, from those moving to a new area of the 

country to refugees.  

Loneliness isn’t new but the way our society works is changing rapidly. We have new 

ways of connecting and communicating with each other where it is now possible to 

spend a day working, shopping, travelling, interacting with business without seeing 

or speaking to another human being. This can be repeated day after day. We need 

to plan for connection and create moments of human contact.  

Loneliness and social isolation is one of the priorities of the Health and Wellbeing 

Board. They requested this ‘deep dive’ to be able to describe what we can do as a 

county to create more connected friendships, neighbourhoods, communities and 

workplaces. 

The Enabling Activity Communities Group and Safer Gloucestershire Board, through 

this deep dive, have started to open up a conversation on loneliness and social 

isolation, to raise awareness of its impacts and describe practically what we can do 

as a county to improve our overall wellbeing. Undertaking this deep dive was a good 

fit in using a PLACE based approach, and built on the work already being 

undertaken by each of the District Councils to Strengthen Local Communities. 

This deep dive into social isolation and loneliness will form one of the seven priorities 

within the Health & Wellbeing Strategy which is due to be published in July 2019.  

 

 

 

Page 54



3 
 

Contents  

 

1. Background  

The focus of Gloucestershire 

Life events that can make us feel lonely and their preventative measures 

Factors that contribute towards social isolation and loneliness  

National campaign to raise awareness of social isolation and loneliness  

 

 

2. Social Isolation and Loneliness in Gloucestershire  

Age, living alone, deprivation and frailty  

What does success look like in tackling social isolation and loneliness?  

 

 

3. Learning from the evidence base (national and international)  

Children and Young People 

Adults and Older People  

 

 

4. Our Approach 

Key themes from the deep dive 

 

 

5. Key Priorities  

Personal Preference  

Family, Friends and Partners 

Rurality and getting to know your neighbours 

Sustainable communities 

Transport 

Environment 

 

 

6. Recommendation and Next Steps  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



4 
 

1. Background 

Gloucestershire recognises that everyone feels lonely from time to time. But when 

people are always lonely they are likely to suffer significant ill health and other 

negative consequences.  

Gloucestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB) reviewed the comprehensive 

document ‘A Connected Society – A Strategy for Tackling Loneliness’(1) which 

published the work started by the MP late Jo Cox at their November 2018 meeting. 

On recognition of this important issue, the HWB requested a ‘deep dive’ on social 

isolation and loneliness. A deep dive gives an opportunity to look in detail at the 

factors affecting people experiences and service’s perceptions of social isolation and 

loneliness and the HWB’s approach to improving this.  

Section 1 of this deep dive provides a summary of the causal factors for feeling 

socially isolated or lonely; these are mostly based on the recent analysis completed 

by the Office of National Statistics in 2018.  

Section 2 sets out what information we know about Gloucestershire’s population, 

the factors affecting social isolation and loneliness and those areas which will need 

greater focus by the HWB.  

Section 3 describes what we can learn from the evidence base including projects we 

are already undertaking in Gloucestershire which have been subject to an 

independent review. This section also looks at opportunities to learn from both 

national and international evidence base.  

Section 4 sets out the key themes from the deep dive having worked with 

individuals, District Councils, Gloucestershire County Council, the CCG, community 

and voluntary groups, all of whom have contributed towards the suggested priorities 

within Section 5.  

Section 6 is seeking feedback from EAC on the content of this deep dive, 

highlighting areas that may be missing and suggested next steps.  

Loneliness can affect anyone of any age and background – from an older person 

mourning the loss of a life partner to a young person who feels different and isolated 

from their friends. Across our communities there are people who can go for days, 

weeks or even a month without seeing a friend or family member.  

The loss of social contact can be damaging to our humanity and to the health and 

wellbeing of everyone affected. Research shows that loneliness is as damaging to 

our physical health as smoking (Holt-Lunstad at al, 2015) (2).  

One of the key challenges to wellbeing is loneliness. Loneliness has been largely 

seen as problem in older age. Loneliness can be a factor that can compromise 

Page 56



5 
 

wellbeing across the child, young person and adult life course rather than being 

defined to old age/older adults.  

Loneliness and social isolation are experiences that most of us will encounter at 

some point in our lives either as a momentary experience or a more protracted 

experience resulting from the loss of a parent or friend.  

For these reasons emphasis is placed within this deep dive on the importance of 

strong communities and assets that we can create or develop to help combat social 

isolation and loneliness. The work with neighbourhoods, communities and District 

Councils is integral to this.  

 

Definition of loneliness  

Loneliness is a gap between actual and desired social relationships. These 

deficiencies can be in terms of either the quality or quality of relationships. 

(Peplau and Perlman, 1981) (3) 

Loneliness and isolation is not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as ‘an 

objective state determined by the quantity of social relationships and contacts 

between individuals, across groups and communities.’ Meanwhile loneliness is 

defined as ‘a subjective state based on a person’s emotional perception of the 

number and/or quality of social connections they need compared to what is currently 

being experienced’. Therefore, it is possible for an individual to be socially isolated 

without feeling lonely, or conversely feel lonely without being socially isolated. 

The factors that contribute towards social isolation and loneliness  

To tackle social isolation and loneliness successfully, we need a deeper 

understanding of who is at highest risk and what is effective in preventing and 

reducing it. Below is a summary of the findings from the Office for National Statistics 

(ONS) in 2018 (4) where members of the public were asked following questions: 

 How often do you feel lonely? 

 How often do you feel that you lack companionship? 

 How often do you feel left out?  

 How often do you feel isolated from others?  

In 2016 to 2017, 5% of all adults (aged 16 years and over) in England reported 

feeling lonely “often” or “always”. That is 1 in 20 adults. Furthermore, 16% of adults 

reported feeling lonely sometimes and 24% occasionally.  

What can be concluded from the chart overleaf is that women are more likely to feel 

lonely often or always than men.  

 

Page 57



6 
 

Figure 1. Reported frequency of loneliness by sex  

England  

 

Ref: ONS, April 2018 link 

Children and Young People  

There can be predictable transition points that can challenge social networks for a 

child or young person. These can include moving school, exam pressures, moving 

away from home or starting work.   

There can be other education related challenges that may trigger loneliness which 

can include putting children into academic, sporting ability groups or choosing teams. 

The stigma associated with free school meals has also been reported as a 

contributory factor to social isolation, as well as school punishment practices 

involving separation, isolation or exclusion. 

Other events that can contribute to loneliness are being bullied, loss of significant 

relationships (bereavement, moving house or school, relationship breakdown, 

practical barriers to social participation including disability).  

It was reported that those aged 16 to 24 years were significantly more likely to report 

feeling lonely “often/always”.  

Adults and the Older Person  

People who are widowed are significantly more likely to report feeling lonely ‘some of 

the time’. By contrast people who are married or in civil partnerships are significantly 

less likely to report experiencing loneliness “often/always” or “occasionally”.  

Page 58

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lonelinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2018-04-10


7 
 

Those who report their general health to be “very bad” or “bad” are significantly more 

likely to report feeling lonely “often/always” and significantly less likely to say they 

“hardly ever” fet lonely compared to other groups.  

Those who report having a long-term illness or disability are significantly more likely 

to report feeling lonely “often/always” and “some of the time”.  

People who are unemployed (and seeking work) are significantly more likely to 

report loneliness “often/always” than those in employment or self-employment.  

People who are not living as part of a couple are significantly more likely to report 

experiencing loneliness “often/always”, “some of the time” or “occasionally” than 

those who report living as part of a couple.  

People who live alone are at greater risk of feeling lonely more often. Those living 

alone are significantly more likely to report loneliness “often/always” and “some of 

the time” whilst those living with others are significantly more likely to report “hardly 

ever” or “never” feeling lonely.  

Those who rent their property are significantly more likely to report loneliness 

“often/always” and “some of the time” than those who own their home. Homeowner 

households tend to have greater financial wealth with an average annual household 

income greater for those in owner occupied homes than those in rented homes. 

Hence, it may not be housing tenure in itself that is associated with how often people 

feel lonely but financial security. 

Those who feel a sense of belonging to their neighbourhood “not very strongly” or 

“not at all strongly” are significantly more likely than those with a stronger sense of 

belonging to report experiencing loneliness “often/always”. This suggests those who 

feel they belong to their neighbourhood less strongly are at greater risk of loneliness. 

Those who report being “neither satisfied nor dissatisfied” or “fairly/very dissatisfied” 

with their local area as a place to live are significantly more likely to report feeling 

lonely “often/always”.  

In summary and based on extensive research by the ONS, the following contributory 

factors can be associated with social isolation and loneliness: 

 Age 

 Sex 

 Marital status 

 Respondent and partners’ (if applicable) gross income 

 Disability status  

 General health  

 Number of adults in the household 

 Caring responsibilities 

Page 59



8 
 

 Whether people chat to neighbours more than to just say hello 

 Feeling as though you belong to a neighbourhood 

 Satisfaction with your local area as a place to live 

 The number of years lived in a local neighbourhood 

 How often you meet up in person with family members or friends 

 

National campaign to raise awareness of social isolation and loneliness  

Marmalade Trust started Loneliness Awareness Week (LAW) just three years ago. It 

was apparent that raising awareness is an important part of changing the way we 

think and acknowledge loneliness.  Marmalade Trust’s vision is to create a society 

where loneliness is recognised openly as something likely to affect us all. 

To date, over 300 organisations across the UK have signed up to Marmalade Trust 

to help raise awareness, support people to find friendship by hosting events and also 

fund raise.  

A couple of actions that Gloucestershire could practically do as a county is for each 

statutory, community and voluntary organisation to: 

 Click the link and make the pledge “It’s ok to say I’ve been lonely”. 

 Have a conversation about loneliness 

 Get involved in an event 

 Add an event to the Marmalade’s Trust interactive map as part of National Social 
Isolation and Loneliness Week in 2020 and beyond   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60

https://marmaladetrust.org/law/#Facebookpost
https://marmaladetrust.org/law/#Interactivemap


9 
 

2. Social Isolation and Loneliness in Gloucestershire 

According to the Gloucestershire Community Wellbeing Survey in 2017, 1 in 2 adult 

social care users in Gloucestershire reported to have as much social contact as they 

would like. 

Over a quarter (28.5%) of adult carers in Gloucestershire said they have as much 

social contact as they would like. 

The survey also identified that 38% of all respondents feel lonely at times, and 

loneliness is highest in those with a mental health issue, a long term illness and/or a 

learning disability. Those with a car as their main form of transport considered 

themselves less lonely’. However, please note, this was based on a small sample of 

606 respondents.  

Taking into consideration the contributory factors leading to social isolation and 

loneliness highlighted in Section 1, below is some of the data available on 

Gloucestershire residents regarding age, adults living in single households, those 

with access to the internet, deprivation and frailty.  

Age can be a contributory factor to social isolation and loneliness. Below is a map of 

Gloucestershire highlighting the following areas as having a higher incidence on 

people aged over 65 years (Figure 2): 

 Cheltenham (part of) 

 Chipping Campden 

 Dursley 

 Fairford 

 Lechlade  

 Painswick 

 Winchcombe  

 Wotton-under-Edge  

Overleaf is a map (Figure 3) which shows by Local Super Output Area (LSOA) the 

proportion of people who are aged 65+ and living alone. It seems to shows highest 

rates in the following areas: 

 North Cotswold (Stow, Moreton, and Bourton) 

 Parts of a few Stroud towns and villages 

 Coleford 

 Sporadic neighbourhoods in Gloucester and Cheltenham (e.g. the retirement 

flats village behind B and Q in Gloucester). 

 

 

Page 61



10 
 

Figure 2: Population aged 65+ by Ward 

Figure 3: Proportion of population aged 65+ and living alone  

 

Page 62



11 
 

Whilst deprivation (Figure 4) doesn’t have a direct contributory factor to social 

isolation and loneliness, it is known that satisfaction with your local area as a place 

to live and living in rental accommodation are factors. The following areas are 

highlighted as being more deprived within Gloucestershire: 

 Cinderford  

 Gloucester City 

 West Cheltenham  

Figure 4: Indices of deprivation in Gloucestershire  

 

Poor health and disability are recognised contributory factors to social isolation and 

loneliness. Below is a map of Gloucestershire showing those areas where 6% or 

more of the adult population are frail (Figure 5). Please note that frailty is not always 

associated with older age. These areas include: 

 Brockworth 

 Chipping Campden 

 Churchdown 

 Gloucester  

 Lydney 

 Mitcheldean 

 Moreton-in-Marsh 

 Tetbury  

 Tewkesbury 

Page 63



12 
 

Figure 5: Frailty by Ward and GP Practice  

 

 

Whilst use of the internet, mobile phone and social media are seen as ways to 

reduce social isolation and loneliness, particularly for those who live rurally or are 

older with families and friends living a long distance away, they can also be 

contributory factors i.e. excessive use of social media with little human contact. This 

has been reported as a casual factor of loneliness amongst children and young 

people.  

Overleaf is a map (Figure 6), although now quite old, shows the likelihood of having 

a mobile phone with internet access. The LSOAs where people are most likely to 

have a phone with access to the internet are located in Cheltenham, Gloucester and 

Tewkesbury. 

 

 

 

 

Page 64



13 
 

Figure 6: Likelihood of having a mobile phone with internet access by LSOA 

 

 

 

In summary, these maps show there is no correlation between age and deprivation 

but there is some direct correlation between age and frailty in some parts of 

Gloucestershire. This will help to focus our efforts into preventing social isolation and 

loneliness within Gloucestershire for those who are older and have poor health 

and/or a disability.  

We can also use these maps to identify areas where there are a higher proportion of 

older and younger people with no or little access to the internet to look at creative 

ways for people, particularly those living rurally can feel more engaged with what is 

happening with their friends, family and community.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 65



14 
 

3. Learning from the evidence base (local, national and international) 

Social Isolation and Loneliness has received a high profile within the last year 

following the publication of the National Strategy for Tackling Social Isolation in 2018 

(1) and was based on the work started by the late MP Jo Cox. Within this strategy it 

lays out the foundations for change at a national level. In this section of the deep 

dive, it will bring in the learning from this national report as well and using some 

illustrative local examples from across Gloucestershire.  

Gloucestershire has some excellent examples of what it is already doing to prevent 

and reduce the impact of social isolation and loneliness. These local examples will 

be illustrated within this section of the report.  

Children and Young People  

Children and young people express that avoiding loneliness is important to them, but 

they differ in the amount of time they want to spend with others and in their 

expectations of what “good” relationships with others look like. Approaches to 

avoiding loneliness are reflected in these individual differences. 

Additionally, we start from different places in the ease with which we form friendships 

and make connections with others. This may involve overcoming: 

 Individual emotional or mental hurdles: such as shyness, introversion, or 

mental health challenges 

 

 Practical hurdles: such as accessibility issues linked to mobility or sensory 

impairments, transport and money for joining in activities 

 

 Social hurdles: linked to acceptance by others and “fitting in”, which may 

relate to perceived differences from others (such as social, cultural, ethnic and 

other visible or presumed differences as well as the issues noted previously 

as emotional or mental hurdles and practical hurdles) 

These different starting points mean that young people shape their individual 

approaches to avoiding loneliness, based on their own current situation, past 

experiences of relationships and loneliness, and their ideas of what “good” or “good 

enough” relationships entail. They also vary in the amount of time it may take them 

to form relationships. 

Specific approaches to avoid becoming lonely involve familiar methods of making 

and sustaining social connections, including: 

 Use of social media to maintain connections and develop new ones 

 

 Joining in sports, clubs and activities 

 

Page 66



15 
 

 Purposefully reaching out, talking to people and nurturing relationships 

 

 Finding ways to overcome hurdles to connecting (for example, offering lifts to 

people who otherwise could not join in, hanging around with a group to try to 

make new connections) 

 

Gloucestershire has undertaken and continues to work on a number of initiatives 

which specifically support children with health conditions, mental health issues and 

disabilities, all of which are recognised contributory factors to social isolation and 

loneliness.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adults and Older People  

Public services and organisations (including VCSE organisations) have a vital role to 

play in helping people to secure the support they need. There are opportunities for 

services and organisations to connect people to help them improve their social 

wellbeing.  

Below are some examples of initiatives that we are undertaking in Gloucestershire, 

those from elsewhere in the country and also examples from Europe.  

 

Case Study – Children with hemiplegia and use of magic tricks  

Breathe Magic Intensive Therapy programme was an Easter Camp in 2019 for local 

people and young people aged between 7 and 18 affected by hemiplegia and 

quadriplegia. Seven local children have been involved in the first phase of the 

programme which uses specially chosen magic tricks to help children with their 

conditions. 

Taught by professional Magic Circle magicians and occupational therapists, the 

programme offers 60 hours of therapy over a 10 day camp, where Breathe combine 

the learning of carefully chosen magic tricks with a focus on everyday activities such 

as cutting up food, or crafts.   

The aim is to significantly improve the young peoples’ hand function, social interaction, 

confidence and independence over the course of the programme – and it works. 

The camp started in Gloucestershire on 8 April and culminated in a special Magic 

Show involving the young people on 18 April at the Parabola Arts Centre, Cheltenham. 

There are just over 100 children with hemiplegia and quadriplegia in Gloucestershire 

and one of the reported benefits of this programme was for children and young people 

to be able to meet each other with similar experiences.  

Page 67



16 
 

Social Prescribing  

Social Prescribing is helping to address a range of social, economic and 

environmental factors that can have an impact on people’s health. Gloucestershire 

Clinical Commissioning Group and Gloucestershire County Council have invested in 

a Community Wellbeing Service (CWS) which is run by a range of locally based 

providers. We know at that least 50% of the referrals to CWS are related to social 

isolation and loneliness. Examples of where the CWS has made a difference to 

people’s lives is by introducing people to community groups, services and support 

within their local area.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case Study – Community Wellbeing Service (Stroud) 

36 year old lady referred to the service by her GP. She presented to GP after having 

split up with her partner which had resulted in her experiencing anxiety and Social 

Isolation. 

She had also been signed off work due to her anxiety which was adding to her Social 

Isolation. She was subsequently assessed by one of the Community Wellbeing Agents 

(CWA) and it was established very quickly that she had strengths and talents around 

creativity. She felt that if she could get involved in a group around Art that it would help 

with her anxiety and isolation. She was also clear that she wanted an environment that 

was comfortable and supportive. 

Working with the CWA they began to identify various options as well as more specific 

support around her anxiety.  An Art group was identified in the local community and 

she felt comfortable to attend. As well as making links with the group and attending the 

sessions she was linked in with the Mental Health and Wellbeing Service (MH&WB) for 

ongoing support around her anxiety. She also started to attend an Art group with the 

MH&WB service. 

Over a couple of weeks, she began to grow in confidence and became less anxious as 

well as building up a network of support with other people in the groups. She felt ready 

to go back to work and has now re-established her work pattern and relationships 

within the work environment. She continues to receive support in the evenings as she 

can’t make appointments during the day. 

She is currently receiving 1:1 support and keeping up the contact with both services. 

She has also been signposted to Listening Post. 

With support she would like to look at a group for 20-30yr olds around Anxiety and 

feels that as she grows in confidence and reduces her isolation she will be in a 

position to volunteer and help support the group. 

  

Page 68



17 
 

Social prescribing is more than a method of signposting, but rather a way in which 

people can be helped to take active steps to seek out support and engage with their 

communities. We know that the CWS has also helped to reduce pressure on urgent 

care within the NHS on review at 6 months post CWS intervention.  

Social prescribing also has a significant feature in the recently published NHS Long 

Term Plan (5). Through social prescribing the range of support available to people 

will widen, diversify and become more accessible across the country. Link workers 

within Primary Care Networks will work with people to develop tailored plans and 

connect them to local groups and support services. Over 1,000 trained social 

prescribing link workers will be in place by the end of 2020/21 rising further by 

2023/24, with the aim that over 900,000 people nationally are able to be referred to 

social prescribing schemes by then. Gloucestershire is currently working on its 

model for social prescribing to support PCNs. 

Some CWS providers are starting to collaborate with local employers using their 

volunteering schemes for employees to support and empower a person local to 

where they live to engage with their local community. This weekly support lasts for 4 

to 6 months and is a model that could be rolled out across the county. One example 

of this is the collaboration between staff working for Coventry Building Society and 

Caring for Communities and People (CCP) who is also a CWS provider.  

Wellbeing in the Workplace  

Whist Gloucestershire has a Work Place and Wellbeing Plan and has successfully 

worked with a number of small, medium and large employers across the county, in 

Sweden part of a Friday afternoon is spent getting up from the desk/work base and 

talking to colleagues. This not only increases the wellbeing of employees but has 

also reduced sickness and absence rates, and increased retention and productivity. 

This is something we could practically do in Gloucestershire to support employees in 

the workplace through our Workplace Wellbeing Charter.  

Safe and Well Checks  

The seven deaths in Gloucestershire related to house fires have all been associated 

with people aged over 65 years and living on their own.  

For those people admitted to hospital following a fall, who live alone and have no 

family or friends, hospital staff will make a referral for a safe and well check to 

ensure the person’s home is safe prior to hospital discharge. These safe and well 

checks are provided by the Fire Service in Gloucestershire.  

Admission to hospital is often the first opportunity for the hospital and Fire Service to 

realise a person is isolated, lonely or not coping at home. A formal referral is then 

made by the Fire Service to arrange support for the older person.  

Page 69



18 
 

By closer collaboration with primary care, including GP practices, these risk factors 

for an older person could be identified much earlier and the Fire Service could 

undertake safe and well checks for those people with a significant frailty and 

loneliness and social isolation score.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Benefit of animals  

Animal based interventions are reported to show a significant reduction in loneliness 

scores, particularly for older people with cognitive impairment which involves at least 

weekly intervention by a dog for 6 weeks.  

This deep dive did not review the use of animal therapy amongst older people, 

including care homes but could be undertaken at some point in the future.  

Digital interventions 

The use of weekly five minute video conferencing with family members for three 

months in long term care facilities is also shown to reduce loneliness scores three 

months post intervention.  

Needs assessments have been produced in Section 2 of this report showing those 

parts of Gloucestershire without access to mobile phones which has internet use.  

 

Case Study – Interplay, Stroud  

Interplay is a welcoming intergeneration project where parents with babies and pre-

school children meet on a weekly basis with older people to talk over tea and coffee. 

The group is run by the small proceeds it makes from coffee and food sales within the 

group.  

The group started in December 2019 by a mother of young children who saw an 

opportunity for people to meet in a place which wasn’t a coffee shop and involved 

significant amounts of money on coffee, particularly for those on a restricted budget.  

On talking to several older people who regularly attend the group they clearly 

articulated that they didn’t want to necessarily spend their days with other older 

people.   

It is important to acknowledge that there is no provision to provide transport to socially 

isolated people who are less mobile. Everyone who currently attends comes of their 

own accord.  

This is a challenge facing the group to reach the socially isolated members of our 

community and to also spread the word to that group.  

Page 70



19 
 

Neighbourhood activities  

Ageing Well Torbay (2017) (6) evaluation examined the role of neighbourhood 

activities on loneliness reductions. Findings showed loneliness was reduced through 

involvement in a variety of neighbourhood projects. Reconnecting people was 

considered to be the most visible change brought about by the project. Social groups 

and activities were identified as a primary mechanism in assisting isolated older 

people in making new connections.  

Leicester Ageing Together examined a range of interventions and impact on 

loneliness, including ‘Singing for the Brain’, Befriending & Mentoring, Men in Sheds, 

Social Prescribing and Intergenerational projects. One-on-one interventions did not 

show a significant effect on loneliness. However, group interventions did show 

significant changes in isolations scores.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Shared meals 

Shared meals can bring together independent single people to eat as a group at 

tables reserved at various restaurants and pubs, with each table hosted by a 

volunteer. Many shared tables have led to the development of new friendships. The 

intimate nature of sitting together as a group of 6 to 8 people was identified as much 

more rewarding than large coffee mornings.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Case Study – Age UK Gloucestershire  

Ageing Well is a group of older people in Gloucester City. They meet on a weekly 

basis in community venues, and with the support of an Age UK Gloucestershire 

volunteer organise talks and presentations that are relevant to their own life 

experiences.  

One example of an activity the group arranged included the making on bread whilst 

discussing the very difficult issue of planning for when you die.  

The group support each other, sharing their experiences and ideas, many of whom live 

alone and are frail.    

 

Case Study – Homeshare Gloucester 

This project offers a full support service for an older person looking to share their home 

with another, often a younger person.  

The expectation is that the Sharer will provide 10 hours of companionship as part of 

the arrangement.  This might be sharing meals or watching TV together.   The 

companionship element is agreed in advance between the older person and Sharer.   

 

Page 71



20 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

What does success look like in tackling social isolation and loneliness?  

In summary, there are a number of mediating factors are central to the development 

of successful loneliness interventions and include: 

 The development of companionship 

 Support meaningful relationships  

 Tailoring interventions to the needs of those for whom interventions are 

designed 

Emphasis should be placed on the need to promote the development of meaningful 

relationships, rather than ‘loneliness’ interventions which can be both unappealing 

and stigmatising.  

We also know there are number of predictable life events that can result in social 

isolation and loneliness whereby measures could be put in place to support children, 

young people, adults and older people through these transition points.  

 

 

 

 

Case Study – Springboard Groups.  

These have emerged in Gloucester City as part of a Life Changes Project run by 

British Red Cross, Cruse Bereavement Support and Age UK Gloucestershire.   

The project aims to offer support to people at a time of life change after age 65.  For 

many this is about bereavement from loss of a partner.   

The Springboard groups were set up in community places (libraries, coffee shops, 

community centres) as a place those dealing with a life change could connect with 

others.  The groups are facilitated by volunteers and have been hugely effective in 

giving people access to social connections and crucially a chance to play a meaningful 

role for others.   

Group members not only offer peer support to each other, but several have chosen as 

a group to do things for others (e.g. raising money for other causes).  The groups 

therefore offer a place to connect with others, to gain a sense of purpose, to have 

visibility of other community opportunities and some structure for those at a vulnerable 

period.   

 

 

Page 72



21 
 

4. Our Approach  

Earlier in this document, examples have been given on local, national and 

international research and projects to demonstrate what works well to combat social 

isolation and loneliness. To get a perspective on the approach needed for 

Gloucestershire residents, semi-structured interviews were undertaken with people 

who had lived experiences. Statutory, voluntary and community organisations in 

Gloucestershire were also asked the same questions on social isolation and 

loneliness.  

Each interviewee or group was asked 4 questions: 

1. Can you describe your area of work and its connection to social isolation and 

loneliness (question for professionals and organisations only) 

 

2. What do you see are some of the barriers in the area you work/live to tackling 

social isolation and loneliness?  

 

3. Can you give some examples of what works well in tackling social isolation and 

loneliness (Children, working age, older people)?  

 

4. What else do you think we need to do to address social isolation and loneliness 

(Children, working age, older people) 

The following groups and organisations took part in the interview process. Most 

interviews were on a 1:1 basis or held in very small groups of no more than 4 people.  

 Age UK Gloucestershire 

 Ageing Well Group, Gloucester City 

 Barnwood Trust  

 Caring for Communities and People (CCP)  

 Cheltenham District Council  

 Cotswold District Council  

 Fire Service  

 Forest of Dean District Council 

 Gloucester City Council  

 Gloucestershire Town and Parish Council  

 Interplay, Stroud (intergeneration project) 

 Safer Gloucestershire Board  

 Salvation Army Play Parent and Toddler Group, Gloucester  

 Stroud District Council  

 Tewkesbury District Council 
 

 

 

Page 73



22 
 

Key themes from the deep dive  

The findings and key themes from the semi-structured interviews have been grouped 

into 7 areas:  

Personal Preference  

 Some people don’t like their own company  

 Need to have a ‘sense of purpose’. Loneliness is not an individual failing  

 Need a structure to the week  

 Need to create opportunities to network 

 Older people don’t want to spend time with other older people. Value inter-

generational interaction  

 Face-to-face support is best  

 Finding friends is hard. Door knocking is a ‘no’ (older person) 

 The atmosphere of parent and young children groups is important. It needs to 

be welcoming. Some groups are intimidating  

 People need to go and find things for themselves… 

 ‘Would find buddying intimidating’ 

Family, Friends and Partners  

 People having children later in life, then going back to work, difficult to have a 

peer group  

 Family living nearby makes a big difference  

 People feel lucky when they have a husband/wife/partner 

 People relying or depending on you make you come out  

 Hit retirement and you haven’t formed any social circles  

Vulnerable people  

 Children with a disability…’I worry about whether his friends are genuine’ 

  ‘Sometimes you need encouragement and hand holding to join a group’ (A 

mum with previous mental health issues, a young child and a baby with a 

disability) 

Rurality and getting to know your neighbours  

 When you live in a rural community, you need to get to know each other  

 Need to make people aware and look out for others. We don’t know our 

neighbours now 

 Need to get the interaction  

 Loneliness and social isolation needs to be everyone’s business within a 

community 

 Get to know your neighbour  

 Creating community events  

Page 74



23 
 

Transport  

 Good transport is a factor to combat loneliness and social isolation  

Environment  

 Focus on prevention for frail over 65 years olds and their fire risk   

 Use resources around us i.e. spaces and benches  

 Active design for new housing developments 

Sustainable Communities  

 Focus on the positives. Look at what a person has, not what they haven’t 

got… 

 Noticing the little things about people, and what they are good at  

 Create a society which demands what older people have to give  

 Build links with parish councils, helps to get closer to communities  

 When someone new moves into the street provide a ‘welcome pack’ 

 Collaboration between private & public sector and volunteering opportunities 

for those at risk of social isolation & loneliness  

 Create a ‘Gift Circle’ to build a community 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75



24 
 

5. Key Priorities  

 

Taking into account the evidence from local, national, international evidence and the 

key themes from the local deep dive, below is a summary of the suggested actions 

we could take as a Health and Wellbeing Board to provide a more targeted 

approach across the county and meet gaps in current service provision. Some 

actions are very practical ones and others are an approach we could take.  

This is not an exhaustive list and would welcome the Health and Wellbeing Board’s 

thoughts and ideas on what else we can do to address social isolation and 

loneliness.  

Theme  
 

Actions Required  

Personal Preference  Provide person centred and tailored loneliness interventions 
which are designed for the specific needs of an individual or 
targeted population in terms of socio-demographic, 
vulnerability or types of loneliness 
 

Personal Preference  Create more opportunities to offer more inter-generational 
interactions across the county, where appropriate  
 

Personal Preference As a county we need to take opportunities to promote the 
development of meaningful relationships using people 
strengths, skills and experiences, rather than ‘loneliness’ 
interventions which can be both unappealing and stigmatising 
 

Family, Friends and 
Partners 

Support vulnerable and older people to make use of 
technology to regularly interact with friends and family who 
don’t live nearby through the use of Facetime or Skype  
 

Family, Friends, 
Partners and 
Communities  
 

Seek opportunities for family, friends and partners to help 
combat social isolation and loneliness. In the link are a few 
examples of what could be achieved to help to inspire others 
to take positive action in their lives and in their communities: 
https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/what-we-do/stories/. 

 

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours 
 
Sustainable 
communities 

Start building connections with our neighbours. Start by talking 
with our neighbours, to learn their names, find out their skills, 
interests and needs. Create a directory to share skills and 
resources.  
 
For those more developed communities, they could look to 
create a gift circle where a community both gives and receives 
skills and resources in an organised way.  
 

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours 
 

Collaborate with employers using their volunteering schemes 
to support and empower people to engage with their local 
community. 

Page 76

https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/what-we-do/stories/


25 
 

Sustainable 
communities 
 

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours 
 
Sustainable 
communities  
 

Gloucestershire could look to introduce National Neighbours 
Day on a set day of the year whereby communities come 
together in an organised and celebratory way  
 

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours 
 
Sustainable 
communities  
 

For each statutory, community and voluntary organisation to: 

 Click the link and make the pledge “It’s ok to say I’ve been 
lonely”. 

 Have a conversation about loneliness 

 Get involved in an event 

 Add an event to the Marmalade’s Trust interactive map as 
part of National Social Isolation and Loneliness Week in 
2020 and beyond   

Transport Start building connections with our neighbours. Create a 
directory of regular journeys i.e. commuters taking people who 
don’t drive into towns, cities, places of interest, community 
groups, etc.  
 

Environment 
 

Focus on the prevention for frail over 65 years olds and their 
fire risk   
 

Environment Use resources around us i.e. spaces and benches. Some 
charitable organisations have grants available for small 
community projects. For example 
https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/grants/grants-for-organisations/. 
 
Each statutory partner could commission ‘talking benches’ 
across the county in strategic locations which optimise people 
to sit down and talk. The talking benches would include a 
plaque to raise awareness of combating social isolation and 
loneliness 
 

Environment To ensure all new housing developments include areas which 
enable communities to come together i.e. community garden, 
walks, benches as well as promoting active travel i.e. walking 
and cycling  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 77

https://marmaladetrust.org/law/#Facebookpost
https://marmaladetrust.org/law/#Facebookpost
https://marmaladetrust.org/law/#Interactivemap
https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/grants/grants-for-organisations/


26 
 

6. Recommendation and Next Steps  

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to approve this final draft of the deep dive 

into social isolation and loneliness.  

 

This deep dive has been supplemented by a Strategic Statement of Intent, which is a 

shorter, more accessible document setting out the priorities, objectives, milestones 

and expected outcomes for the county,  

 

 

 

Thank you 

 

A wide range of individuals, community groups and organisations within 

Gloucestershire have helped to shape this strategy on social isolation and 

loneliness. We would like to thank those below who gave their time and insights  

 

 

Age UK Gloucestershire 

Ageing Well Group, Gloucester City 

Barnwood Trust  

Caring for Communities and People (CCP)  

Cheltenham District Counctil  

Cotswold District Council  

Fire Service  

Forest of Dean District Council 

Gloucester City Council  

Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group  

Interplay, Stroud  

Safer Gloucestershire Board  

Salvation Army Play Parent and Toddler Group, Gloucester  

Stroud District Council  

Tewkesbury District Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 78



27 
 

References  

 

(1) A connected society: A strategy for tackling loneliness – laying the 

foundations for change (October 2018) 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-connected-society-a-strategy-

for-tackling-loneliness 

 

(2) Loneliness and Social Isolation as Risk Factors for Mortality: A Meta-Analytic 

Review. Holt-Lunstad at al (2015) 

 

(3) Toward a Social Psychology of Loneliness: Daniel Perlman and Letitia Anne 

Peplau (1981) 

 

(4) Loneliness - What characteristics and circumstances are associated with 

feeling lonely? (April 2017) 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lon

elinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2

018-04-10  

 

(5) The NHS Long Term Plan, NHS England (2019) www.longtermplan.nhs.uk 

 

(6) Ageing Well Torbay (2017) https://ageingwelltorbay.com/about/ 

 

(7) An overview of review: the effectiveness of interventions to address loneliness 

at all stages of the life-course (October 2018) www.whatworkswellbeing.org 

Community   

 

(8) Exploring loneliness in children, Great Britain: 2018 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/exp

loringlonelinessinchildrengreatbritain/2018 

 

(9) Little Book of Lykke – The Danish search for the world’s happiest people, 

Happiness Research Institute, Copenhagen 2017  

 

(10) Wellbeing Survey (July 2017) Gloucestershire County Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 79

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-connected-society-a-strategy-for-tackling-loneliness
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-connected-society-a-strategy-for-tackling-loneliness
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lonelinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2018-04-10
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lonelinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2018-04-10
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/lonelinesswhatcharacteristicsandcircumstancesareassociatedwithfeelinglonely/2018-04-10
http://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://ageingwelltorbay.com/about/
http://www.whatworkswellbeing.org/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/exploringlonelinessinchildrengreatbritain/2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/wellbeing/articles/exploringlonelinessinchildrengreatbritain/2018


28 
 

 

Page 80



1 
 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Statement of Intent: Social Isolation and Loneliness – October 2019  

 

 

1. Vision   
 
Gloucestershire recognises that everyone feels lonely from time to time. But when people are always lonely they are likely to suffer 

significant ill health and other negative consequences.  

On recognition of this important issue, Gloucestershire’s Health and Health Being Board (HWB) requested a ‘deep dive’ on social 
isolation and loneliness. This deep dive gave an opportunity to look in detail at the factors affecting people’s experiences and 
service’s perceptions on social isolation and loneliness, and our approach to addressing this important area. 

 

2. Background  
 

In May 2019, the HWB reviewed and commented on the draft Deep Dive on Social Isolation and Loneliness. Their comments and 
suggestions have been incorporated into a final draft, which is available. The final draft of the deep dive will be presented to Safer 
Gloucestershire Board and Enabling Active Communities Group in October 2019 for ratification. 
 
A Strategic Statement of Intent was requested by the HWB which sets out the key objective, actions to be taken, by when, with their 
expected outcomes.  

 
3. Context  

 
The relationships we have with our friends, family, neighbours and colleagues are, for many of us, the most important things in our 

lives. There is a strong link between having meaningful social connections and living a healthy and fulfilled life. We also know that 

P
age 81



2 
 

having more connected communities means a more thriving, productive society, in which we can all contribute and live fulfilling 

lives.  

Loneliness and isolation is not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as ‘an objective state determined by the quantity of social 

relationships and contacts between individuals, across groups and communities.’  

Loneliness can be defined as ‘a subjective state based on a person’s emotional perception of the number and/or quality of social 

connections they need compared to what is currently being experienced’. Therefore, it is possible for an individual to be socially 

isolated without feeling lonely, or conversely feel lonely without being socially isolated. It is also recognised that people can feel 

isolated and lonely who aren’t on their own. 

Across the county, we know that loneliness can affect anyone – from teenagers and young adults to new parents, carers, and the 

recently bereaved, from students starting university to older people and those with disabilities, from those moving to a new area of 

the country to refugees. 

4. Our strategic approach and responsibility for delivery  
 

Social isolation and loneliness is one of the seven priorities within our Health & Wellbeing Strategy published in August 2019.  

The Enabling Activity Communities Group and Safer Gloucestershire Board on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board have 

started to open up a conversation on loneliness and social isolation, to raise awareness of its impacts and describe practically what 

we can do as a county to improve our overall wellbeing. Where possible the priorities use a PLACE based approach, and build on 

the work already being undertaken by each of the District Councils to Strengthen Local Communities. 

Through the Enabling Activity Communities Group, Safer Gloucestershire Board and its constituent members, the Health and 

Wellbeing Board will take responsibility for delivery of the key objective set out in section 7 of this Statement of Strategic Intent.  

 

 

 

P
age 82



3 
 

5. What we know about our population  
 

The Gloucestershire Community Wellbeing Survey in 2017 identified that 38% of all respondents feel lonely at times, and loneliness 

is highest in those with a mental health issue, a long term illness and/or a learning disability. Those with a car as their main form of 

transport consider themselves less lonely’. Please note, this was based on a small sample of 606 respondents. 

We also know the following areas have a higher proportion of younger and older people with no or little access to the internet. 

Through the deep dive, lack of internet access has been identified as a gap for people to be engaged with what is happening with 

their friends, family or in their community. These areas are: 

 Forest of Dean, North and South Cotswold, and Tewkesbury District  

6. Priorities 
 
Below is a summary of the themes and priorities identified within the deep dive into social isolation and loneliness. 
 

Theme  
 

Priorities  

Personal Preference  Provide person centred and tailored loneliness interventions which are designed for the specific needs of 
an individual or targeted population in terms of socio-demographic, vulnerability or types of loneliness 

Personal Preference  Create more opportunities to offer more inter-generational interactions across the county, where 
appropriate  

Personal Preference As a county we need to take opportunities to promote the development of meaningful relationships using 
people strengths, skills and experiences, rather than ‘loneliness’ interventions which can be both 
unappealing and stigmatising 

Family, Friends and 
Partners 

Support vulnerable and older people to make use of technology to regularly interact with friends and 
family who don’t live nearby through the use of Facetime or Skype  

Family, Friends, 
Partners and 
Communities  
 

Seek opportunities for family, friends and partners to help combat social isolation and loneliness. In the 
link are a few examples of what could be achieved to help to inspire others to take positive action in their 
lives and in their communities: 
https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/what-we-do/stories/. 

Rurality and getting to Start building connections with our neighbours. Start by talking with our neighbours, to learn their names, 

P
age 83

https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/what-we-do/stories/


4 
 

know your neighbours 
Sustainable 
communities 

find out their skills, interests and needs. Create a directory to share skills and resources.  
For those more developed communities, they could look to create a gift circle where a community both 
gives and receives skills and resources in an organised way.  

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours 
Sustainable 
communities 

Collaborate with employers using their volunteering schemes to support and empower people to engage 
with their local community. 

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours 
 
Sustainable 
communities  

Gloucestershire could look to introduce National Neighbours Day on a set day of the year whereby 
communities come together in an organised and celebratory way  
 

Rurality and getting to 
know your neighbours 
 
Sustainable 
communities  

For each statutory, community and voluntary organisation in Gloucestershire to make a pledge in 
recognition of loneliness across our county and helping people to maintain or make new friendships. 

  

Transport Start building connections with our neighbours. Create a directory of regular journeys i.e. commuters 
taking people who don’t drive into towns, cities, places of interest, community groups, etc.  

Environment Focus on the prevention for frail over 65 years olds and their fire risk   

Environment Use resources around us i.e. spaces and benches. Some charitable organisations have grants available 
for small community projects. For example https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/grants/grants-for-organisations/. 
 
Each statutory partner could commission ‘talking benches’ across the county in strategic locations which 
optimise people to sit down and talk. The talking benches would include a plaque to raise awareness of 
combating social isolation and loneliness 

Environment To ensure all new housing developments include areas which enable communities to come together i.e. 
community garden, walks, benches as well as promoting active travel i.e. walking and cycling  

 
 
 
 

P
age 84

https://www.barnwoodtrust.org/grants/grants-for-organisations/


5 
 

7. Key Objective 
 

Commitment 
 

Call for action Milestone Outcome 

 

To create a county 
where loneliness 
and social 
isolation are 
recognised openly 
as something likely 
to affect us all and 
where the 
importance of 
Gloucestershire’s 
social 
infrastructure to 
grow connectivity 
and community 
cohesion is 
understood and 
acted upon 
 

 
Phase 1  
For statutory, community, 
voluntary and private sector 
organisations to make a 
pledge in recognition of social 
isolation and loneliness across 
our county.  
 
A list of exemplar and practical 
pledges will be provided to 
organisations and could 
include: 

 Get to know your 
neighbour  

 Have a conversation in 
the workplace about 
social isolation and 
loneliness  

 Spend time to talk to 
someone at work, in 
your community you 
have never spoken to 
before  

 Get involved in an event  

 District Councils to 
support ‘play streets’ 
and the closure of roads 

 
September 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
December 2020 

 
Increased awareness of social 
isolation and loneliness  
 
Reduce stigma of social 
isolation and loneliness 
 
Create opportunities to 
collaborate across 
organisations and communities  
 
Reduce likelihood of social 
isolation and loneliness across 
all age groups  
 
Strengthen local communities  

P
age 85



6 
 

 on certain days at a 
week end  

 
For the Health and Wellbeing 
Board to endorse a 
Gloucestershire Neighbours 
Day. This could take the form 
of planned events or simply 
getting to know your 
neighbour.  
 

 

To create a county 
where loneliness 
and social 
isolation are 
recognised openly 
as something likely 
to affect us all and 
where the 
importance of 
Gloucestershire’s 
social 
infrastructure to 
grow connectivity 

 
Phase 2  
Focus on prevention. There 
are known transition points in a 
person’s life where they will be 
at risk of feeling lonely or 
social isolated. We will 
proactively work with schools, 
employers, organisations, 
providers of care, community 
groups, etc to open up these 
conversations 
 
Create opportunities for 
children and young people to 
support vulnerable and older 
people to make use of 
technology to regularly interact 
with friends and family who 
don’t live nearby through the 
use of Facetime or Skype 

 
 
March 2021  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
March 2021  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Prevent people feeling socially 
isolated and lonely during life 
transition points  
 
Enable people who live 
remotely and unable to travel 
to maintain friendships and 
links with family  
 
Support Gloucestershire to 
become a digital enabled 
county  
 
Reduce social isolation and 
loneliness in children, young, 
vulnerable and older people 
across the county  
 
 

P
age 86



7 
 

and community 
cohesion is 
understood and 
acted upon 

 
Using examples of what works 
well in parts of the county i.e. 
Stroud Interplay to encourage 
the creation and development 
of more intergenerational 
projects i.e. drop ins and 
coffee mornings. 
 

 
March 2021  

 

To create a county 
where loneliness 
and social 
isolation are 
recognised openly 
as something likely 
to affect us all and 
where the 
importance of 
Gloucestershire’s 
social 
infrastructure to 
grow connectivity 
and community 
cohesion is 

 
Phase 3 
To make best use of the 
resources around us i.e. 
benches, community and open 
spaces. Work with charitable 
organisations and Town and 
Parish Councils who have 
grants available for small 
community projects.  
 
Work with arts and culture to 
look creatively at the use of 
community spaces and the 
successful introduction of any 
new initiatives  
 
To ensure all new housing 
developments include areas 
which enable communities to 
come together i.e. community 
garden, walks, benches as well 
as promoting active travel i.e. 

 
March 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
March 2025 
 
 
 
 
 
March 2030 

 
Making better use of open and 
community spaces across the 
county 
 
Create opportunities for people 
to meet and talk and for 
communities to come together 
 
Promote use of arts and 
culture in helping to reduce 
social isolation and loneliness  
 
Reduce social isolation and 
loneliness   
 
All new housing developments 
will have a tool kit for planners, 
including completion a Health 
Impact Assessment  
 
 
 

P
age 87



8 
 

understood and 
acted upon 

walking and cycling 
 

 
 

 

 

8. Key enablers 
In summary, this Strategic Statement of Intent confirms that we do not need a ‘loneliness response’ but a community one that offers 

opportunities for the creation and development of meaningful relationships.  Therefore the critical success factors will be dependent 

upon: 

 The engagement of people, neighbours and communities in recognising social isolation and loneliness and wanting to make 

a difference  

 The level of support statutory, community, voluntary and private sector organisations are able to provide to create 

opportunities for people to interact with each other  

 Resources available in both staff resource and monetary terms to implement the key objective within this report  

 

Document History  

Version  Reviewed by  Date  

V1 Small working group comprising of Barnwood Trust, VCS Alliance, Create 
Gloucestershire and CCG  

30th August 2019  

V2 Self Care and Prevention Board  25th Sept 2019 

V3  To be discussed at EAC on 9th October 2019   

   

 

 

P
age 88



1

 ADULT SOCIAL CARE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
10th March 2020

Care Homes Strategy in Gloucestershire

1 Background

1.1 The Care Act (2014) introduced new duties for local authorities to facilitate and shape 
a diverse, sustainable and quality market, emphasising that local authorities have a 
responsibility for promoting the wellbeing of the whole local population, not just those 
whose care and support they currently fund.

1.2 Our response to this duty can involve: market oversight, which aims to understand the 
local care market; contingency planning, which aims to provide a robust response in 
the event of provider failure in order to minimize the impact on people using the 
service; and Market shaping which is activity to enable choice for people who might 
need services and to ensure that the care market as a whole remains vibrant and 
stable.

1.3 As well as responding to duties under the Care Act Gloucestershire is an Integrated 
Care System, which means health and care organisations are working together to 
improve the health and wellbeing of our communities. We are breaking down barriers 
between organisations and using our collective resources to provide ‘place-based 
care’. 

1.4 Place-based means focusing on the people who live in a particular area and really 
trying to understand the area; what is available, the skills and assets and local 
strengths. This work not only involves the NHS and local councils it also involves 
charities, the voluntary sector, employers, education providers, housing providers, 
leisure centres, the police, community groups and anyone else with an interest in the 
health and wellbeing of local people. 

1.5 Given this context this paper outlines the proposal to amalgamate some of our 
strategic work to ensure that we are promoting and supporting the development of 
robust and sustainable markets across Gloucestershire which can meet the needs of 
residents at a locality level. 

2 Care Home Strategy and District Plans

2.1 In 2018 a Care Home Strategy was developed in order to make public the 
commissioning intentions of Gloucestershire County Council and Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group with regard to Care Homes and the purchase of beds 
in the county. The document can be found here: 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2090287/care-home-strategyjune5.pdf

2.2 The document aimed to take a “place-based” approach in line with our intentions as 
an Integrated Care System. It was therefore intended that District Plans would follow 
with a more detailed analysis of the need and provision of Care Homes for older 
people in each district of Gloucestershire.  

2.3 These plans are in development but it has become apparent that taking this element 
of the market (Older people’s Care Homes) in isolation means that we have uneven 
coverage in our understanding of the care home market as a whole. 

Page 89

Agenda Item 10

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/adult-social-care-market-shaping/adult-social-care-market-shaping#shaping-detail
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2090287/care-home-strategyjune5.pdf


2

2.4 In addition to the wider care home market there is a complex interaction between 
community and bed based services whereby examining one aspect of the care 
market in isolation would give a skewed picture. For example in some districts there 
are more placements in care homes per head of population than average because 
lack of capacity in community services makes providing services into people’s own 
homes problematic. Our strategic intent needs to be informed by documents which 
include this complex interaction between services and therefore can inform the 
system as a whole. 

2.4 Also currently in development is a Housing with Care Strategy which will give a local 
picture of the need and availability of accommodation with a care or support provision 
attached. This strategy also plans to generate “District Plans” showing need and 
availability on a locality basis. 

3 Market Position Statement

3.1 A Market Position Statement is a market facing public document produced by a 
commissioning authority that includes an analysis of local need for support and care 
services and the support and services available as well as what is not available but 
needs to be. 

3.2 In 2018 Gloucestershire County Council and Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group published a Market Position Statement for Adult Social Care. It was the 
intention that this should be a “living document” and therefore refreshed regularly. 
The document can be found here: 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083902/market-position-statement-for-
older-people-2018.pdf.

3.2 Whilst the Market Position Statement included information regarding the needs of 
people across Gloucestershire and all types of care provision it was generally a 
“whole county” document and therefore made minimal distinction between the 
districts. 

3.3 The refresh of the Market Position Statement could potentially duplicate the work 
undertaken to provide district plans that extend beyond care homes for older people 
and also those for housing with care. 

3.4 It is proposed that a new Market Position Statement be developed which has a 
distinct sections for each district and which provides a clear overview of each type of 
provision in the area as well as any variation in local needs or demand. 

4 Integrated Locality Partnership Plans

4.1 As a maturing Integrated Care System, and under the strategic direction of “One 
Gloucestershire”, Gloucestershire is developing a place based, person-centred model 
of proactive community based care. 

4.2 The aims of the place based approach are: 
• Supporting people to stay healthy and independent, including a focus on prevention 
and self-care; 
• Providing more joined-up support for people with long term conditions – physical 
illnesses, mental illnesses or learning disabilities; and 

Page 90

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083902/market-position-statement-for-older-people-2018.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083902/market-position-statement-for-older-people-2018.pdf


3

• Developing multidisciplinary workforce models with staff empowered to work in new 
innovative ways to meet the needs of people, regardless of organisational 
boundaries. 

4.3 This entails not just integrating health and social care but a joined-up approach with 
education and skills, welfare and benefits, leisure, housing and community safety 
programmes to deliver a more appropriate mix of medical and social interventions to 
tackle the root cause of health inequalities. 

4.3 Integrated Locality Partnerships have been formed and will see multi-disciplinary 
teams working together to serve natural populations of around 30,000-50,000 people, 
and making the most of the many supportive ‘community assets’ such as voluntary 
and community groups that also work within our neighbourhoods. 

4.4. The work involves the development of Integrated Locality Partnership Plans which will 
lay out exactly how the joined up approach will be implemented. 

4.5 Integrated Locality Partnership Plans are in the early stages of development and 
there is an opportunity to ensure that they align with a new place based Market 
Position Statement so that an integrated approach is taken across the entire Health 
and Social Care market. 

5 Engagement 

5.1 The original district plans for the Older People Care Home Strategy were informed by 
engagement with older people and care home residents undertaken for the authority 
by Evolving Communities and Healthwatch Gloucestershire. This was however limited 
to care home provision for older people. 

5.2 Engagement for the development of the 2018 Market Position Statement targeted the 
provider market rather than involving the public or any users of services. 

5.2 In order to develop a new Market Position Statement in the form which covers all 
services for all people it is proposed that substantial further engagement will be 
needed in order to understand the needs and provisions in each locality.  

5.3 Where possible it will be desirable to align this to any engagement regarding the 
Integrated Locality Partnership Plans in order to get a more complete picture and to 
avoid overburdening respondents. 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	28 January 2020 Action Sheet

	4 Work Plan
	5 Director of Adult Social Care Report
	6 Director of Public Health Report
	090320 ASC Coronavirus briefing

	7 Chief Fire Officer Report
	Appendix A - GFRS Structure 05.02.20

	8 Performance Report - Quarter 3 2019/20
	9 Loneliness and Isolation
	20191002 Strategic Statement of Intent - Social Isolation and Loneliness v3

	10 Care Home Strategy and Provision



